

# Low Complexity Regularized Phase Retrieval

Jean-Jacques Godeme, Jalal Fadili

## ▶ To cite this version:

Jean-Jacques Godeme, Jalal Fadili. Low Complexity Regularized Phase Retrieval. 2024. hal-04659872

# HAL Id: hal-04659872 https://hal.science/hal-04659872v1

Preprint submitted on 23 Jul 2024

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# Low Complexity Regularized Phase Retrieval

Jean-Jacques Godeme\* Jalal Fadili\*

**Abstract.** In this paper, we study the phase retrieval problem in the situation where the vector to be recovered has an a priori structure that can encoded into a regularization term. This regularizer is intended to promote solutions conforming to some notion of simplicity or low complexity. We investigate both noiseless recovery and stability to noise and provide a very general and unified analysis framework that goes far beyond the sparse phase retrieval mostly considered in the literature. In the noiseless case we provide sufficient conditions under which exact recovery, up to global sign change, is possible. For Gaussian measurement maps, we also provide a sample complexity bound for exact recovery. This bound depends on the Gaussian width of the descent cone at the sought-after vector which is a geometric measure of the complexity of the latter. In the noisy case, we consider both the constrained (Mozorov) and penalized (Tikhonov) formulations. We provide sufficient conditions for stable recovery and prove linear convergence for sufficiently small noise. For Gaussian measurements, we again give a sample complexity bound for linear convergence to hold with high probability. This bound scales linearly in the intrinsic dimension of the sought-after vector but only logarithmically in the ambient dimension.

Key words. Phase retrieval, Variational regularization, Low complexity, Sparsity, Exact recovery, Robustness.

## Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1	The phase retrieval problem	2		
	1.2	Prior work	3		
	1.3	Contributions and relation to prior work	5		
	1.4	Outline of the paper	6		
2	Nota	ations and preliminaries	6		
3	Noiseless Recovery				
	3.1	Existence and compactness	10		
	3.2	Deterministic recovery condition	10		
	3.3	Recovery from Gaussian measurements	11		
	3.4	Recovery bounds for decomposable regularizers	13		
	3.5	Recovery bounds for frame analysis-type regularizers	16		
	3.6	Recovery bounds for total variation	19		
4	Stab	le Recovery: Constrained Problem	20		

<sup>\*</sup>Normandie Univ, ENSICAEN, CNRS, GREYC, France. e-mail: jean-jacques.godeme@unicaen.fr, Jalal.Fadili@ensicaen.fr.

5	Stab	ble Recovery: Penalized Problem	21		
	5.1	Convergence	22		
	5.2	Convergence rate	23		
	5.3	Convergence rate for Gaussian measurement maps	27		
		5.3.1 Construction of a "dual" certificate	27		
		5.3.2 Bound for a symmetric strong gauge of a polytope	28		
		5.3.3 Bound for the group Lasso	30		
6	Numerical Experiments				
	6.1	Bregman Proximal Gradient	32		
	6.2	Results	32		
Aŗ	pend	lices	34		
A	Proc	ofs for Section 5.3	34		
	A.1	Proof of Lemma 5.7	34		
	A.2	Proof of Lemma 5.8	35		
	A.3	Proof of Lemma 5.10	36		
B	Con	centration inequalities	36		

## **1** Introduction

## 1.1 The phase retrieval problem

The phase retrieval problem arises in many applications including X-ray crystallography, diffraction imaging, and light scattering, to name just a few; see [59, 33, 41] and references therein. Phase retrieval is an active research area and we refer to [59, 33, 41, 25, 68] for recent reviews of the current state of the art.

Our focus in this paper will be on the case of real signals. In this case, phase retrieval consists of recovering  $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  from phaseless, possibly noisy, real or complex measurements. In the noiseless case, one measures the squared modulus of the inner product between  $\bar{x}$  and m sensing/measurement vectors  $(a_r)_{r \in [\![m]\!]}, [\![m]\!] \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{1, \ldots, m\}$ , and the goal is to recover  $\bar{x}$  from the intensities  $(|\langle a_r, \bar{x} \rangle|)_{r \in [\![m]\!]}$ . In real applications, however, the intensity measurements are not perfectly acquired. For instance, let us consider light scattering for precision in optics [3, 13, 14] which is our motivating application. Here, the goal is to describe the roughness of a polished surface. The latter is illuminated with a laser source, and the diffusion is measured by moving a detector. Then the power spectral density of the surface topography can be directly measured. However, during the acquisition process, different types of noise can corrupt the measurements such as photon noise, thermal noise, Johnson noise, *etc.*. To account for noise, we thus consider a generic additive noise model in which case the noisy phase retrieval problem reads:

$$\begin{cases} \text{Recover } \bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ from the measurements } y \in \mathbb{R}^m \\ y[r] = |\langle a_r, \bar{x} \rangle|^2 + \epsilon[r], \quad r \in \llbracket m \rrbracket, \end{cases}$$
(GeneralPR)

where [r] is the *r*-th entry of the corresponding vector, and  $\epsilon \in \mathbb{R}^m$  is the noise vector. The measurement model (GeneralPR) is quite standard and is similar for instance to [19, 23, 22].

Since  $\bar{x}$  is real-valued, the best one can hope for is to ensure that  $\bar{x}$  is uniquely determined from its intensities up to a global sign. In fact, phase retrieval is a severely ill-posed inverse problem in general, and even for  $\epsilon = 0$ , checking whether a solution to (GeneralPR) exists or not is known to be NP complete [56]. The situation is even more challenging in presence of noise and stability can be only ensured

to sufficiently small noise. Thus, one of the major challenges is to design optimization problems and efficient recovery algorithms and find conditions on m,  $(a_r)_{r \in [m]}$  and  $\epsilon$  which guarantee exact (up to a global sign change) and stable recovery to small enough noise.

In order to reach the land of well-posedness without unreasonably increasing the number of measurements (*i.e.* oversampling), it appears natural to restrict the inversion process to a well-chosen low dimensional subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  containing the plausible solutions including  $\mathcal{X} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{\pm \bar{x}\}$ . It is then natural to leverage this low dimensional structure which will hopefully allow to minimize the number of measurements needed for recovery, and this is the most important as the measurement process might be expensive or can destroy the sample at hand. A standard way to implement this idea consists in adopting a variational framework where the sought-after solutions are those where a prior penalty/regularization function is the smallest. This approach is in line with variational regularization theory pioneered by Tikhonov [63]. Put formally, this amounts to solving the following optimization problem

$$\inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \left\{ F_{y,\lambda}(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left\| y - |Ax|^2 \right\|^2 + \lambda R(x) \right\}, \qquad (\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$$

where  $A = [a_1, \ldots, a_m]^{\top}$  and  $R : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  is a proper closed convex function which is intended to promote objects similar or close to  $\bar{x}$ .  $\lambda > 0$  is the regularization parameter which balances the trade-off between fidelity and regularization. It is immediate that the data fidelity function  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto$  $||y - |Ax|^2||^2$  is non-convex due to the quadratic measurements (though weakly convex). Besides, it is  $C^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  but its gradient is not Lipschitz continuous. In this setting, we can associate to this data fidelity term following entropy or kernel function

$$\psi(x) = \frac{1}{4} \|x\|^4 + \frac{1}{2} \|x\|^2.$$
(1.1)

It is known that  $||y - |A \cdot |^2||^2$  is so-called smooth relative to  $\psi$  [11], meaning that it verifies an appropriate descent lemma wrt to  $\psi$ ; see (6.1). Therefore  $F_{y,\lambda}(x)$  is amenable to the efficient Bregman Proximal Gradient algorithm described and discussed in Section 6.

It is well known in the inverse problem literature, see e.g. [57], that the value of  $\lambda$  should typically be an increasing function of  $\|\epsilon\|$ . In the special case where there is no noise, *i.e.*  $\epsilon = 0$ , the fidelity to data should be perfect, which corresponds to considering the limit<sup>1</sup> of  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  as  $\lambda \to 0^+$ . This limit turns out to be the noiseless version for exact (up to a global sign) recovery,

$$\inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} R(x) \quad \text{s.t.} \quad |Ax| = \sqrt{\bar{y}} \quad \text{where} \quad \bar{y} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} |A\bar{x}|^2. \tag{$\mathcal{P}_{\bar{y},0}$}$$

Denoting  $\overline{\mathcal{F}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ w \in \mathbb{R}^m : |w| = \sqrt{\overline{y}} \}$ , which is a non-empty finite set of cardinality  $2^m$  (vertices of a hyper-rectangle),  $(\mathcal{P}_{\overline{y},0})$  can be equivalently written as

$$\inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} R(x) \quad \text{s.t.} \quad Ax \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}.$$

#### 1.2 Prior work

Regularized phase retrieval is an active area of research. Our review of this problem is not exhaustive and readers interested in a comprehensive and extended overview should refer to the following references [59, 33, 68, 41, 25].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This will be studied rigorously in Section 5.

**Sparse phase retrieval** When the signal of interest is s-sparse w.r.t some basis and the goal is to recover the signal from fewer measurements  $m \ll n$ , this problem is referred as "compressive or sparse phase retrieval". From a theoretical perspective, generic sensing vectors  $(a_r)_{r \in [m]}$  are injective (up to a global sign change) in the class of real s-sparse signals as soon as the number of measurements satisfies  $m \ge 2s - 1$  [73]. We recall that the natural information theoretical lower-bound is  $m \ge s \log(n)$  for solving the problem using any approach. Whereas for Gaussian sensing vectors, [48] show that  $m \ge s \log(en/s)$  separate signals well. In [71], the authors introduced a notion of strong Restricted Isometry Property (s-RIP) which holds for the class of Gaussian sensing vectors and they showed that solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  when R is the  $\ell_0$ -norm is equivalent to solving the same problem replacing  $\ell_0$  with the  $\ell_1$  norm for sensing vectors satisfying the s-RIP. For Gaussian sensing vectors, the latter holds for  $m \ge s \log(en/s)$ . Stable sparse phase retrieval under the s-RIP was studied in [27]. Other works in the same vein include [1, 74, 27, 73, 58, 34, 35, 36, 6].

We can categorize the methods to solve the sparse phase retrieval problem into three groups. The first considers convex relaxation, the second tackles directly the non-convex problem and the third manually designs the sensing vectors.

Lifting methods such as the PhaseLift can be used to convexify the constraint in  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  while sparsity on the lifted rank-one matrix is now to be promoted entry-wise or row-wise. This regularization entails that the rank-one matrix to be recovered is  $s^2$  sparse and thus, as expected, the sample complexity for exact recovery from Gaussian measurements is  $m \gtrsim s^2 \log(n)$  [40]. However, this problem does not scale with s and it is not possible to achieve the natural theoretical lower-bound using this approach [40, 49]. Another approach in this setting is PhaseMax [32] which consists in relaxing the non-convex constraint set in  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  from equality to inequality (*i.e.* from the sphere constraint to the ball one), and then to solve the resulting linear program. This method achieves the optimal sample complexity  $m \gtrsim s \log(n/s)$  for Gaussian sensing vectors. However, it requires an anchor or initialization that is sufficiently correlated with the true signal which requires  $m \gtrsim s^2 \log(n)$  to be successful. In [43], the authors use a convex relaxation and propose an atomic norm that favours low-rank and sparse matrices. They achieve nearly optimal sample complexity *i.e.* bound  $m \gtrsim s \log(en/s)$ . Regarding the stability of the reconstruction against additive noise, the same authors showed that the sparse with low-rank atomic norm regularization achieves a reconstruction error bound of  $O(\sigma \sqrt{(s \log(en/s))/m})$  where  $\sigma$  is the noise standard deviation.

Concerning methods that study directly the sparse phase retrieval problem, it has been shown that  $m \gtrsim s^2 \log(n)$  are sufficient to provably recover the original vector (up to global sign/phase change) [17, 47, 72, 75, 37]. The authors in [17] proposed a method to find a good initialization of the problem which requires that  $m \gtrsim s^2 \log(n)$ . The authors in [47] proposed an alternating minimization strategy to reconstruct the signal. Sparta [72] uses an amplitude-based instead of an intensity-based measurement which is clearly non-smooth and [75] proposed a sparse truncated version of the classical Wirtinger flow [18]. The authors in [37] proposed the Copram which combines Alternating minimization and the Cosamp [44], and they showed that reconstruction is possible with  $m \gtrsim s^2 \log(n)$  measurements. In the general case of block sparsity or group Lasso, they showed that exact recovery (up to a global sign change) is possible with  $m \gtrsim \frac{s^2}{B} \log(n)$  where B is the size number of the blocks slightly improving the bound on the number of measurements. As far as robust recovery is concerned, a thresholded Wirtinger flow for noisy sparse phase retrieval was proposed and analyzed in [17] (see also [74] for an extension to for misspecified phase retrieval). For A standard Gaussian and random noise with zero-mean independent centred sub-exponential entries, it was shown that when properly initialized, this procedure with  $m \gtrsim$  $s^2 \log(n)$  achieves a reconstruction error of  $O(\sigma/\|\bar{x}\| \sqrt{(s \log(n))/m})$ , where  $\sigma$  characterizes the noise level. This rate is essentially optimal as proved in [38].

If one has complete control over how the measurements vectors are designed, then near-optimal sample complexity bounds with practical algorithms can be obtained [5, 52]. This is however of limited interest to us as we are primarily concerned with generic measurement vectors.

**General regularized phase retrieval** As reviewed above, most existing work focuses on the recovery of sparse signals from phaseless measurements. On the other hand, real signals and images involve much richer structure and complexity such as being piecewise smooth. In this case, a wise choice of the regularizer would be the popular Total Variation (TV) seminorm, or group-sparsity in some frame. This scope is quite recent for the phase retrieval. For the TV phase retrieval, we refer to [8, 9]. In [8], the authors combined the standard Fienup's Hybrid input-output [26] method that is well-known to be the Douglas-Rachford [7] with TV regularization based on a primal-dual method. This was applied to optical diffraction tomography and the sensing vectors are the Non-Uniform Fourier Transform. In [9], they extend the scope to moving objects. See also [51] for an algorithmic framework based on Fienup methods with general semialgebraic regularizers. None of those works proved recovery and stability results.

In the general setting, we have to cite the work of [38], where the authors consider the reconstruction of a real vector living in a general model subset  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  from sub-Gaussian measurements. They showed that empirical risk minimization (ERM) of  $\Omega$  to solve the noisy phase retrieval produces a signal close enough to the true signal (up to a global sign change) and this error depends on the Gaussian width of  $\Omega$  and the signal-to-noise ratio of the problem. Phase retrieval with general regularization is studied in [60], where the authors showed that the main problem for achieving the optimal sample complexity is the initialization step. However, it is still an open question to cook up a general good recipe to find an anchor or initialization that is close enough or sufficiently correlated with the true vector beyond the sparse case, and with a reasonable bound on the number of measurements, *i.e.* that does not scale as the square of the intrinsic dimension of the vector to recover.

#### **1.3** Contributions and relation to prior work

In this paper, we start by providing sufficient conditions under which the set of solutions to  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  is non-empty. Then, we deliver a unified analysis showing that the recovery of  $\bar{x}$  up to a global sign is exact when we solve  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  under two geometric (deterministic) conditions on R, the descent cone of R and the deterministic measurements A. It turns out that for standard Gaussian measurements and the class of regularizer that we consider, these conditions are satisfied with high probability under a sufficiently large sample complexity. As a consequence, when the number of measurements is large enough the recovery of  $\bar{x}$  up to a sign change is exact by solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$ . Furthermore, we provide an explicit expression of the recovery bounds for decomposable regularizers (that include the lasso, the group lasso, and their ordered weighted versions), for frame analysis-type regularizers and the total variation. To the best of our knowledge, these are the first results of this kind in the literature of phase retrieval. Our results encompass those of [71] as a special case. Some of our arguments in the proof can be seen as a generalization of those used compressed sensing (see [21, 67]) to the real phase retrieval problem.

Concerning stable recovery, we first consider a relaxed inequality constrained form  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\rho})$  which is known as the residual method or Mozorov formulation. We show that under the previous deterministic conditions, the set of solutions is non-empty. Moreover, the solutions are located in a ball of center  $\bar{x}$  up to a sign-change and radius equal to the signal-to-noise ratio. For standard Gaussian measurements and a large class of regularizers, we show with high probability that solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\rho})$  yields a solution that is near  $\bar{x}$  up to a sign change as soon as the number of measurements is large enough.

We then turn to penalized problem  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$ . First, we show that under an appropriate geometric deterministic condition, the problem has a non-empty compact set of minimizers. Then, using  $\Gamma$ -convergence tools, when  $\lambda \to 0$  and  $\epsilon \to 0$ , we show that the set of minimizers converges to the set of true vectors up to a global sign change. Finally, we show that for enough small noise, the recovery error bound scales as  $O(||\epsilon||)$ , a rate known in the inverse problem literature as linear convergence<sup>2</sup>. This holds under a non-degenerate source condition and a restricted injectivity condition tailored to the phase retrieval problem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The reason is that the bound is indeed linear in  $\|\epsilon\|$ .

For standard Gaussian measurements, we provide sample complexity bounds for the latter two conditions to hold with high probability with several regularizers. This covers both the popular sparse retrieval case, but goes far beyond it by providing bounds that are new and unknown in the literature to the best of our knowledge. Our results include those of [17, 74] as a special case. Some of our arguments and results generalized those in compressed sensing (see [20, 67]) to the real phase retrieval problem.

## 1.4 Outline of the paper

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. Section 2 gathers all the preliminaries required for our exposition. In Section 3, we study exact recovery of the noiseless regularized phase retrieval problem. We then turn to stability to noise where we consider the the Mozorov (constrained) formulation in Section 4 and the Tikhonov (penalized) formulation in Section 5. The proofs of the technical results are deferred to the appendix.

## 2 Notations and preliminaries

**Vectors and matrices** We denote  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  a scalar product on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\|\cdot\|$  the corresponding norm.  $\mathbb{B}(x, r)$  is the corresponding ball of radius r centered at x and  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  is the corresponding unit sphere. Moreover,  $\|\cdot\|_p$ ,  $p \in [1, \infty]$  stands for the  $\ell_p$  norm.

For  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , we use the shorthand notation  $[\![m]\!] = \{1, \ldots, m\}$ . The *i*-th entry of a vector x is denoted x[i]. For any  $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$  the operations |y| and  $y^2$  should be understood componentwise. Given a matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$ ,  $M^{\top}$  is its transpose. Let  $\lambda_{\min}(M)$  and  $\lambda_{\max}(M)$  be respectively the smallest and the largest eigenvalues of M.

In the following, for a subspace  $V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $P_V$  denotes the orthogonal projector on V, and

$$x_V \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbf{P}_V x$$
 and  $M_V \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} M \mathbf{P}_V$ .

For a matrix M and index set I,  $M^{I}$  (resp.  $M_{I}$ ) denotes the sub-matrix whose rows (resp. columns) are only those of M indexed by I.

**Sets** For a finite subset I, |I| is its cardinality and  $I^c$  its complement. For a non-empty set  $S \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we denote  $\overline{S}$  its closure,  $\overline{\text{conv}}(S)$  the closure of its convex hull, and  $\iota_S$  its indicator function, *i.e.*  $\iota_S(x) = 0$  if  $x \in S$  and  $+\infty$  otherwise. For a non-empty convex set S, its *affine hull* aff(S) is the smallest affine manifold containing it. It is a translate of its *parallel subspace* par(S), *i.e.*  $par(S) = aff(S) - S = \mathbb{R}(S - S)$ , for any  $x \in S$ . The *relative interior* ri(S) of a convex set S is the interior of S for the topology relative to its affine full.

For any vector  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , the distance to a non-empty set  $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is

$$\operatorname{dist}(x,\mathcal{S}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \inf_{z \in \mathcal{S}} \|x - z\|.$$
(2.1)

Throughout, we use the shorthand notation  $\overline{\mathcal{X}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{\pm \overline{x}\}$  to denote the set of true vectors. Hence, for any vector  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , the distance to the set of true vectors is

$$\operatorname{dist}(x,\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \min(\|x-\bar{x}\|, \|x+\bar{x}\|).$$
(2.2)

**Remark 2.1.** Our limitation of the set of true solutions to  $\{\pm \bar{x}\}$  may appear restrictive since even for real vectors, the equivalence class is much larger than what we are allowing. However, this restriction will be justified later.

**Definition 2.2 (Support function).** The *support function* of  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{S}}(z) = \sup_{x \in \mathcal{S}} \langle z, x \rangle$$

**Definition 2.3 (Polar set).** Let S be a non-empty convex set. The set  $S^{\circ}$  given by

$$\mathcal{S}^{\circ} = \left\{ v \in \mathbb{R}^n : \langle v, x \rangle \le 1 \quad \forall x \in \mathcal{S} \right\}$$

is called the polar of S.

The set  $S^{\circ}$  is closed convex and contains the origin. When S is also closed and contains the origin, then it coincides with its bipolar, *i.e.*  $S^{\circ\circ} = S$ .

**Definition 2.4 (Gauge).** Let  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be a non-empty closed convex set containing the origin. The gauge of S is the function  $\gamma_S$  defined on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  by

$$\gamma_{\mathcal{S}}(x) = \inf \left\{ \mu > 0 : x \in \mu \mathcal{S} \right\}.$$

As usual,  $\gamma_{\mathcal{S}}(x) = +\infty$  if the infimum is not achieved as a minimum.

We have the following characterization of the support function in finite dimension.  $\gamma_{S}$  is a nonnegative, closed and sublinear function. When S is a closed convex set containing the origin, then

$$\gamma_{\mathcal{S}} = \sigma_{\mathcal{S}^{\circ}}$$
 and  $\gamma_{\mathcal{S}^{\circ}} = \sigma_{\mathcal{S}}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  a nonempty, closed bounded and convex subset. If  $0 \in \operatorname{ri}(\mathcal{S})$ , then  $\gamma_{\mathcal{S}} \in \Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is sublinear, non-negative and finite-valued, and  $\sigma_{\mathcal{S}}(x) = 0 \iff x \in \operatorname{par}(\mathcal{S}))^{\perp}$ .

**Definition 2.5 (Asymptotic cone).** Let S be a non-empty closed convex set. The asymptotic cone, or recession cone is the closed convex cone defined by

$$\mathcal{S}_{\infty} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \bigcap_{t>0} \frac{\mathcal{S} - x}{t}, \quad x \in \mathcal{S}$$

This definition does not depend on the choice of  $x \in S$ . The importance of the asymptotic cone becomes obvious through the following fundamental fact that will then play a crucial role to study well-posedness of our minimization problems; see [4, Proposition 2.1.2].

**Fact 2.6.** S is compact if and only if  $S_{\infty} = \{0\}$ .

**Functions** A function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \overline{\mathbb{R}} = \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  is closed (or lower semicontinuous (lsc)) if so is its epigraph. The effective domain of f is dom $(f) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(x) < +\infty\}$  and f is proper if dom $(f) \neq \emptyset$  as is the case when it is finite-valued. We denote by  $\Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$  the class of proper lsc convex function on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

A function f is coercive if  $\lim_{\|x\|\to+\infty} f(x) = +\infty$ . f is said sublinear if it is convex and positively homogeneous. The Legendre-Fenchel conjugate of f is  $f^*(z) = \sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}^n} \langle z, x \rangle - f(x)$ . Let the kernel of a function be defined as  $\ker(f) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{z \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(z) = 0\}$ . Let us denote by  $\mathcal{S}_{\text{lev}f}(\bar{x}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{z \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(z) \leq f(\bar{x})\}$  the sublevel set of f at  $\bar{x}$ .

The subdifferential  $\partial f(x)$  of a convex function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  at x is the set

$$\partial f(x) = \left\{ v \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(z) \ge f(x) + \langle v, z - x \rangle, \quad \forall z \in \operatorname{dom}(f) \right\}$$

An element of  $\partial f(x)$  is called a subgradient. If the convex function f is differentiable at x, then its only subgradient is its gradient, *i.e.*  $\partial f(x) = \{\nabla f(x)\}.$ 

The Bregman divergence associated to a convex function f at x with respect to  $v \in \partial f(x) \neq \emptyset$  is

$$D_f^v(z,x) = f(z) - f(x) - \langle v, z - x \rangle.$$

The Bregman divergence is in general non-symmetric. It is also non-negative by convexity. When f is differentiable at x, we simply write  $D_f(z, x)$  (which is, in this case, also known as the Taylor distance).

For a proper closed function  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $f_\infty : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is the asymptotic function or recession function [4] associated with f. It is defined by

$$f_{\infty}(z) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \liminf_{z' \to z, t \to +\infty} \frac{f(tz')}{t}.$$
(2.3)

It is well-known that  $f_{\infty}$  is lsc and positively homogeneous and that its epigraph is the asymptotic cone of the epigraph of f. This function plays an important role in the existence of solutions to minimization problems. Besides for any closed convex set S, one has  $(\iota_S)_{\infty} = \iota_{S_{\infty}}$ .

**Operator norm** Let  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  be two finite-valued gauges defined on two vector spaces  $V_1, V_2$ , and  $A: V_1 \to V_2$  be a linear map. The *operator bound*  $||A||_{q_1 \to q_2}$  of A between  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  is given by

$$||A||_{g_1 \to g_2} = \sup_{g_1(x) \le 1} g_2(Ax).$$

Let us note that  $||A||_{g_1 \to g_2} < \infty$  if and only if  $A \ker(g_1) \subset \ker(g_2)$ . Moreover a sufficient condition for  $||A||_{g_1 \to g_2} < \infty$  is that  $g_1$  is coercive. As a convention,  $||A||_{g_1 \to ||\cdot||_p}$  is denoted as  $||A||_{g_1 \to p}$ . A direct consequence of this definition is the fact that, for every  $x \in V_1$ ,

$$g_2(Ax) \le ||A||_{q_1 \to q_2} g_1(x).$$

**Preliminaries from probability theory** Many of the following notations for probabilistic concepts are adopted directly from [69, 64]. We denote by  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$  a *probability space*.

**Definition 2.7.** Let S be an arbitrary bounded subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The covering number of S in the norm  $\|\cdot\|$  at resolution  $\delta > 0$  is the smallest number,  $N(S, \delta)$ , such that S can be covered with balls  $\mathbb{B}(x_i, \delta)$ ,  $x_i \in S, i \in [N(S, \delta)]$ , *i.e.*,

$$\mathcal{S} \subseteq \bigcup_{i \in \llbracket N(\mathcal{S}, \delta) \rrbracket} \mathbb{B}(x_i, \delta)$$

The finite set of points  $S_{\delta} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{x_i : i \in [\![N(S, \delta)]\!]\}$  is called a (proper)  $\delta$ -covering of S. The packing number  $P(S, \delta)$  is the maximal integer such that there are points  $x_i \in S$ ,  $i \in [\![P(S, \delta)]\!]$ , such that  $||x_i - x_j|| > \delta$  for all  $i, j \in [\![P(S, \delta)]\!]$ ,  $i \neq j$ . The set of such points is called a  $\delta$ -net of S.

Packing and covering numbers are closely related as one always has

$$P(\mathcal{S}, 2\delta) \le N(\mathcal{S}, \delta) \le P(\mathcal{S}, \delta).$$
(2.4)

**Definition 2.8.** The Gaussian width of a subset  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is defined as

$$w(\mathcal{S}) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \mathbb{E}(\sigma_{\mathcal{S}}(Z)), \text{ where } Z \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \mathrm{Id}_n).$$

The Gaussian width is a summary geometric quantity that, informally speaking, measures the size of the bulk of a set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . This concept plays a central role in high-dimensional probability and its applications. It has appeared in the literature in different contexts [31]. In particular, it has been used to establish sample complexity bounds to ensure exact recovery (noiseless case) and mean-square estimation

stability (noisy case) for low-complexity penalized estimators from linear Gaussian measurements; see e.g. [21, 2, 50, 66]. The Gaussian width has deep connections to convex geometry and it enjoys many useful properties. It is well-known that it is positively homogeneous, monotonic w.r.t inclusion, and invariant under orthogonal transformations. Moreover, one has

$$w(\mathcal{S}) = w(\overline{\mathcal{S}}) = w(\operatorname{conv}(\mathcal{S})) = w(\overline{\operatorname{conv}}(\mathcal{S})).$$

This comes from the properties of the support function. A lower bound for the Gaussian width of a bounded set can be obtained via Sudakov's minoration.

**Proposition 2.9.** Let S be a bounded set. Then for any  $\delta > 0$  small enough, we have

$$w(\mathcal{S}) \ge \frac{\delta}{2} \sqrt{\log(N(\mathcal{S}, \delta))}.$$

**Proof.** Let  $S_{\delta}$  be an  $\delta$ -net of S. Thus, since  $S_{\delta} \subset S$ , we have

$$w(\mathcal{S}) \ge w(\mathcal{S}_{\delta}) = \mathbb{E}\left(\max_{x_i \in \mathcal{S}_{\delta}} \langle Z, x_i \rangle\right).$$

Since  $[\langle Z, x_i \rangle : i \in [\![P(S, \delta)]\!]]^\top$  is a zero-mean Gaussian vector, we can invoke the lower bound in [12, Theorem 13.4] to get

$$\begin{split} w(\mathcal{S}) &\geq \mathbb{E} \left( \max_{x_i \in \mathcal{S}_{\delta}} \left\langle Z, x_i \right\rangle \right) \\ &\geq \frac{1}{2} \min_{i \neq j, x_i, x_j \in \mathcal{S}_{\delta}} \sqrt{\mathbb{E} \left( |\left\langle x_i - x_j, Z \right\rangle|^2 \right) \log \left( P(\mathcal{S}, \delta) \right)} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \min_{i \neq j, x_i, x_j \in \mathcal{S}_{\delta}} \left\| x_i - x_j \right\| \sqrt{\log \left( P(\mathcal{S}, \delta) \right)} \\ &\geq \frac{\delta}{2} \sqrt{\log \left( N(\mathcal{S}, \delta) \right)}, \end{split}$$

where we used and (2.4) and the definition of the packing number in the last inequality.

The following proposition gives the concentration of measure in the Gauss space. A comprehensive account can be found in [39].

**Proposition 2.10.** Let f be a real-valued K-Lipschitz continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let Z be the standard normal random vector in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then for every  $t \ge 0$  one has

$$\mathbb{P}\left(f(Z) - \mathbb{E}\left(f(Z)\right) \ge t\right) \le \exp(-t^2/2K^2).$$

## **3** Noiseless Recovery

We here study well-posedness (existence and uniqueness of minimizers) of  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$ , which in turn will allow us to state when exact recovery is possible. In this section, we use the shorthand notation

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{y},0} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \underset{A^{-1}(\overline{\mathcal{F}})}{\operatorname{Argmin}(R)}.$$

## **3.1** Existence and compactness

The following result provides sufficient conditions under which problem  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  is well-posed. It does not need convexity of R.

**Proposition 3.1.** Let  $R : \mathbb{R}^n \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be a proper and lsc function. Assume that:

- (i)  $A(\operatorname{dom}(R)) \cap \overline{\mathcal{F}} \neq \emptyset$ .
- (ii) R is non-negative<sup>3</sup>.
- (*iii*)  $\operatorname{ker}(R_{\infty}) \cap \operatorname{ker}(A) = \{0\}.$

Then  $S_{\bar{y},0}$  is a non-empty compact set.

## Remark 3.2.

- A typical case where all above assumptions are in force is when *R* is coercive, has full domain and is bounded from below.
- This result is general and goes beyond the phase retrieval problem, indeed this result can be applied for instance for general non-linear inverse problems with a suitable definition of  $\overline{\mathcal{F}}$ .

**Proof.** The range of  $R_{\infty}$  is on  $\mathbb{R}_+$  since R verifies (ii). Define  $G = R + \iota_{\overline{\mathcal{F}}} \circ A$ . In view of the domain qualification assumption (i), we get by [4, Proposition 2.6.1 and Proposition 2.6.3] that

$$G_{\infty}(z) \ge R_{\infty}(z) + \iota_{\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\infty}}(Az).$$

Since  $\overline{\mathcal{F}}$  is bounded, we get that  $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\infty} = \{0\}$ . Moreover, the range of  $R_{\infty}$  is on  $\mathbb{R}_+$  since R is bounded from below. Thus

$$G_{\infty}(z) > 0$$
 for all  $z \notin \ker(R_{\infty}) \cap \ker(A)$ .

It then follows from [4, Corollary 3.1.2] that (iii) entails the claim.

#### **3.2** Deterministic recovery condition

**Definition 3.3 (Descent cone).** The descent cone of R at  $\bar{x}$  is the conical hull of the sublevel set of R at  $\bar{x}$ , *i.e.* 

$$\mathcal{D}_R(\bar{x}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \bigcup_{t>0} \left\{ z : \ R(\bar{x} + tz) \le R(\bar{x}) \right\}.$$
(3.1)

The tangent cone of the sublevel set of R at  $\bar{x}$ , denoted  $\mathcal{T}_R(\bar{x}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{\text{cone}}(\mathcal{S}_{\text{lev}R}(\bar{x}) - \bar{x})$ , is the closure of  $\mathcal{D}_R(\bar{x})$ . The normal cone of the sublevel set of R at  $\bar{x}$  is

$$\mathcal{N}_{R}(\bar{x}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left\{ s : \langle s, z - \bar{x} \rangle \le 0, z \in \mathcal{S}_{\text{lev}R}(\bar{x}) \right\},\$$

and we have  $\mathcal{N}_R(\bar{x}) = \mathcal{T}_R(\bar{x})^\circ$ , where we recall that  $\circ$  stand for polarity (see Definition 2.3).

**Theorem 3.4.** Suppose that  $S_{\bar{y},0} \neq \emptyset$ , and that: (H.1)  $R \in \Gamma_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and is even symmetric. (H.2)  $\forall I \subset \llbracket m \rrbracket, |I| \ge m/2$ 

$$\ker(A^I) \cap \mathcal{D}_R(\bar{x}) = \{0\}$$

Then the recovery of  $\bar{x}$  (up to a global sign) is exact by solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$ , i.e.

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{y},0} = \mathcal{X}.$$

#### Remark 3.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In fact, we need R to be only bounded from below, and there is no loss of generality by taking the lower bound as 0 by a trivial translation argument.

- Assumption (H.1) is quite general and encompasses any convex symmetric gauge. This includes the  $\ell_1$ ,  $\ell_{1,2}$  and  $\ell_{\infty}$ -norm regularizers as well as their analysis-type counterparts.
- Of course, assumption (H.2) is vacuous if  $\mathcal{D}_R(\bar{x})$  is empty, which is the case if the set of minimizers is empty. The assumptions of Proposition 3.1 ensure that this cannot be the case.

**Proof.** The proof is a generalization of that [71, Theorem 2.2] beyond the  $\ell_1$ -norm, and exploits the structure of the constraint set  $\overline{\mathcal{F}}$ . Let  $b \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} A\overline{x}$ , and for any sign vector  $\varepsilon \in \{1, -1\}^m$ , set  $b_{\varepsilon} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} [\varepsilon[r]b[r]: r \in [m]]^{\top}$ . Consider the minimization problem

$$\inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} R(x) \quad \text{s.t.} \quad Ax = b_{\varepsilon},$$

and denote  $x_{\varepsilon}$  any minimizer, if it exists. If  $x_{\varepsilon}$  does not exist, there is nothing to say. We claim that if  $x_{\varepsilon}$  exists, then under our assumptions, for any sign vector  $\varepsilon$ ,

$$R(\bar{x}) \le R(x_{\varepsilon})$$

with equality iff  $x_{\varepsilon} = \pm \bar{x}$ .

Observe that  $x_{\varepsilon} \in A^{-1}(\overline{\mathcal{F}})$ . Thus  $\langle a_r, x_{\varepsilon} \rangle = \pm b[r]$  for all  $r \in \llbracket m \rrbracket$ . Let

$$I = \left\{ r \in \llbracket m \rrbracket : \langle a_r, x_\varepsilon \rangle = b[r] \right\}.$$

Thus either  $|I| \ge m/2$  or  $|I^c| \ge m/2$ . Assume the first case holds. This implies that  $A^I x_{\varepsilon} = A^I \bar{x}$ . From [21, Proposition 2.1], it follows using (H.2) and convexity of R that

$$\operatorname{Argmin}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \left\{ R(x) \text{ s.t. } A^I x = A^I \bar{x} \right\} = \left\{ \bar{x} \right\},$$

and thus, since  $x_{\varepsilon}$  is a feasible point,

$$R(\bar{x}) \le R(x_{\varepsilon}),$$

with equality holding if and only if  $x_{\varepsilon} = \bar{x}$ . For the case where  $|I^c| \ge m/2$ , we have  $-A^{I^c} x_{\varepsilon} = A^{I^c} \bar{x}$ . Arguing similarly as before using also that R is even, we get

$$\operatorname{Argmin}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \left\{ R(x) \text{ s.t. } -A^{I^{c}}x = A^{I^{c}}\bar{x} \right\} = -\operatorname{Argmin}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \left\{ R(x) \text{ s.t. } A^{I^{c}}x = A^{I^{c}}\bar{x} \right\} = \left\{ -\bar{x} \right\},$$

Thus, in this case

$$R(\bar{x}) \le R(x_{\varepsilon}),$$

with equality holding if and only if  $x_{\varepsilon} = -\bar{x}$ . Since this holds for any  $\varepsilon \in \{1, -1\}^m$  and any minimizer of  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  is of the form  $x_{\varepsilon}$  (when the latter exists), we conclude.

### 3.3 Recovery from Gaussian measurements

The goal now is to give sample complexity bounds for the claims of Theorem 3.4 to hold true when A is a Gaussian measurement map, *i.e.* the entries of A are i.i.d  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$ . We start with the following preparatory lemma.

**Lemma 3.6.** Let  $A : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$  be a Gaussian map with i.i.d  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries. Let  $\delta \in ]0, 1[$  and  $\nu = \frac{1}{18}\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}}$ . Suppose that  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is a fixed vector. Then

$$\min_{I \subset \llbracket m \rrbracket, |I| \ge m/2} \left\| A^I x \right\| \ge \nu/2 \left\| x \right\|$$

with probability at least  $1 - 2e^{-\frac{\nu^2 m}{8}}$ , and

$$\max_{I \subset \llbracket m \rrbracket, |I| \ge m/2} \left\| A^{I} x \right\| \le (1+\delta) \left\| x \right\|$$

with probability at least  $1 - e^{-\frac{\delta^2 m}{2}}$ .

**Proof.** The first claim follows from [71, Lemma 4.4]. The second one follows from the fact that

$$||A^{I}x|| \leq ||Ax||$$
 for all  $I \subset \llbracket m \rrbracket$ ,

and then use Proposition 2.10 since  $A \mapsto ||Ax||$  is ||x||-Lipschitz continuous and  $\mathbb{E}(||Ax||) \le ||x|| / \sqrt{m}$ .

**Theorem 3.7.** Suppose that (H.1) holds. Let  $\nu$  be as defined in Lemma 3.6. Let  $A : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$  be a Gaussian map with *i.i.d*  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries such that

$$m \ge \frac{8(1+t)}{\nu^2} \log \left( N \left( \mathcal{D}_R(\bar{x}) \cap \mathbb{S}^{n-1}, \varepsilon \right) \right),$$

for some  $\varepsilon \in [0, \nu/(2+\nu)]$  and t > 0. Then with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{-\frac{t\nu^2 m}{8}}$ , the recovery of  $\bar{x}$  (up to a global sign) is exact by solving ( $\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0}$ ).

**Proof.** The proof relies on combining Theorem 3.4 and Lemma 3.6 together with a covering argument. Throughout the proof, denote  $\Omega = \mathcal{D}_R(\bar{x}) \cap \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ . In view of Theorem 3.4, we need to prove that there exists  $c \in ]0, 1[$  such that

$$\min_{I \subset \llbracket m \rrbracket, |I| \ge m/2} \left\| A^I z \right\| \ge c$$

for all  $z \in \Omega$ . Let  $\Omega_{\varepsilon} = \{W_i : i \in [[N(\Omega, \varepsilon)]]\}$  be an  $\varepsilon$ -covering of  $\Omega$ . For a fixed  $W_i \in \Omega_{\varepsilon}$ , Lemma 3.6 tells us that

$$\left\|A^{I}W_{i}\right\| \geq \nu/2$$

with probability at least  $1 - 2e^{-\frac{\nu^2 m}{8}}$ . Now, for an arbitrary but fixed  $z \in \Omega$ , there exists  $W_j \in \Omega_{\varepsilon}$  such that  $||z - W_j|| \le \varepsilon$ . Thus

$$\min_{I \subset [m], |I| \ge m/2} \left\| A^{I} z \right\| \ge \min_{I \subset [m], |I| \ge m/2} \left\| A^{I} W_{j} \right\| - \max_{I \subset [m], |I| \ge m/2} \left\| A^{I} (z - W_{j}) \right\| \ge \frac{\nu}{2} - \left( 1 + \frac{\nu}{2} \right) \varepsilon$$

with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{-\frac{\nu^2 m}{8}}$ , where we took  $\delta = \nu/2$  in Lemma 3.6 for the second inequality. Taking  $\varepsilon$  small as devised, we deduce that

$$\min_{I \subset \llbracket m \rrbracket, |I| \ge m/2} \left\| A^I z \right\| \ge \frac{\nu}{2} - \left( 1 + \frac{\nu}{2} \right) \varepsilon \in ]0, \nu/2[ \tag{3.2}$$

holds for all  $z \in \Omega$  with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{\log(N(\Omega,\varepsilon)) - \frac{\nu^2 m}{8}}$ . The bound on the number of measurements then leads to the claim.

Estimating covering numbers is difficult for general convex cones. On the other hand, the authors in [21, 2, 65] developed a general recipe for estimating Gaussian widths of the descent cone (restricted to the unit sphere). This is what we will do in Section 3.4. But before, we need a sample complexity bound in terms of the Gaussian width. This is the motivation behind the following corollary.

**Corollary 3.8.** Suppose that (H.1) holds. Let  $\nu$  be as defined in Lemma 3.6. Let  $A : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$  be a Gaussian map with *i.i.d*  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries such that

$$m \ge \frac{64(1+t)(\nu+2)^2}{\nu^4} w \left( \mathcal{D}_R(\bar{x}) \cap \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \right)^2$$

for t > 0. Then with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{-\frac{t\nu^2 m}{8}}$ , the recovery of  $\bar{x}$  (up to a global sign) is exact by solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$ .

**Proof.** Use the lower bound of Proposition 2.9 and choose  $\varepsilon = \frac{\nu}{\sqrt{2}(2+\nu)}$  in Theorem 3.7.

#### Remark 3.9.

- (i) Clearly, this result shows that the sample complexity bound for exact phase recovery by solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  is nearly (up to constants) the same as for exact recovery from linear Gaussian measurements (*i.e.* compressed sensing) [21, 2]. However, one has to keep in mind that  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  contains a non-convex constraint, which is not algorithmically tractable, and the recovery results we have are not for an algorithmic scheme.
- (ii) Unlike the linear case, our results for quadratic measurements above cannot be extended to sub-Gaussian random sensing vectors. The most technical reason is that the lower bound in Lemma 3.6, which uses [71, Lemma 4.4], heavily relies on the Gaussian structure of the sensing vectors. As a simple counter-example (see also [71, Remark 2.3]), consider the recovery of any vector of the standard basis from Rademacher measurements, *i.e.* the entries of A are i.i.d taking values  $\pm 1$  with probability 1/2. Then all such vectors have the same image under  $|A \cdot |$ . Thus regardless of the number of measurements, even such simple one-sparse vectors cannot be reconstructed from Rademacher sensing vectors.

## 3.4 Recovery bounds for decomposable regularizers

We start by defining some essential geometrical objects associated to the non-smoothness structure of the regularizer R at a given vector x, as introduced in [66]. These objects capture the model structure undelying x.

**Definition 3.10 (Model Subspace).** Let  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . We define

$$e_x \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{aff}(\partial R(x))}(0).$$

We also define

$$S_x \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \operatorname{par}(\partial R(x))$$
 and  $T_x \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} S_x^{\perp}$ 

 $T_x$  is coined the *model subspace* of x associated to R.

It can be shown, see [66, Proposition 5], that  $x \in T_x$ , hence the name model subspace. When R is differentiable at x, we have  $e_x = \nabla R(x)$  and  $T_x = \mathbb{R}^n$ . When R is the  $\ell_1$ -norm (Lasso regularizer), the vector  $e_x$  is nothing but the sign of x. Thus,  $e_x$  can be viewed as a generalization of the sign vector. Observe also that  $e_x = P_{T_x}(\partial R(x))$ , and thus  $e_x \in T_x \cap \operatorname{aff}(\partial R(x))$ . However, in general,  $e_x \notin \partial R(x)$ .

In this subsection, we will assume that R is a strong gauge in the sense of [66, Definition 6].

**Definition 3.11 (Strong Gauge).** R is a strong gauge if  $R = \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}$  where  $\mathcal{C}$  is a non-empty convex compact set containing the origin as an interior point, and  $e_x \in ri(\partial R(x))$ .

Strong gauges have a nice decomposable description of  $\partial R(x)$  in terms of  $e_x$ ,  $T_x$ ,  $S_x$  and  $\sigma_c$ . More precisely, piecing together [66, Theorem 1, Proposition 4 and Proposition 5(iii)], we have

$$\partial R(x) = \operatorname{aff}(\partial R(x)) \cap \mathcal{C}^{\circ} = \left\{ v \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : v_{T_{x}} = e_{x} \text{ and } \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(v_{S_{x}}) \leq 1 \right\}.$$
(3.3)

The Lasso, group Lasso, and nuclear norms are typical popular examples of (symmetric) strong gauges. Let us observe that strong symmetric gauges not only conform to (H.1) but also meet the requirements of Proposition 3.1.

The following result provides a useful upper-bound on the Gaussian width of the descent cone of a strong gauge in terms of  $e_x$ ,  $T_x$ ,  $S_x$  and  $\sigma_c$ .

**Lemma 3.12.** If R is a strong gauge of C, then for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ 

$$w\left(\mathcal{D}_R(x)\cap\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\right)^2 \le \mathbb{E}\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(Z_{S_x})^2\right) \|e_x\|^2 + \dim\left(T_x\right), \qquad Z \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \mathrm{Id}_n).$$
(3.4)

Clearly this upper-bound scales linearly in the intrinsic dimension of x via the dimension of the model space  $T_x$ . Thus, one expects Corollary 3.8 to provide us with a complexity bound that scales linearly in dim $(T_{\bar{x}})$  to recover  $\pm \bar{x}$  by solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$ . This is what we will show shortly for a few popular regularizers.

Proof. From [21, Proposition 3.6] and Jensen's inequality, we have

$$w\left(\mathcal{D}_R(x)\cap\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\right)^2\leq\mathbb{E}\left(\operatorname{dist}\left(Z,\mathcal{D}_R(x)^\circ\right)^2\right)=\mathbb{E}\left(\operatorname{dist}\left(Z,\mathcal{N}_R(x)\right)^2\right).$$

*R* being a strong gauge implies that *R* is convex and has full domain, and thus  $\partial R$  is non-empty convexand compact-valued at any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Moreover,  $\operatorname{Argmin}(R) = \{0\}$ . It then follows from [55, Theorem 23.7] that for any  $x \neq 0$ 

$$\mathcal{N}_R(x) = \bigcup_{t \ge 0} t \partial R(x),$$

where  $t\partial R(x)$  is the dilation of the subdifferential through the scaling factor t. In turn, we get

$$w\left(\mathcal{D}_R(x)\cap\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\right)^2 \leq \mathbb{E}\left(\operatorname{dist}\left(Z,\cup_{t\geq0}t\partial R(x)\right)^2\right) \leq \inf_{t\geq0}\mathbb{E}\left(\operatorname{dist}\left(Z,t\partial R(x)\right)^2\right) \leq \mathbb{E}\left(\operatorname{dist}\left(Z,\tilde{t}\partial R(x)\right)^2\right)$$

for any  $\tilde{t} \ge 0$ . Observe that in view of definition (3.3), we have

$$t\partial R(x) = \left\{ v \in \mathbb{R}^n : v_{T_x} = te_x \text{ and } \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(v_{S_x}) \le t \right\}.$$
(3.5)

We will now device an appropriate choice of  $\tilde{t}$  and of a subgradient in  $\partial R(x)^4$ . Let v be a (random) vector such that  $v_{S_x} = Z_{S_x}$  and  $v_{T_x} = \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(Z_{S_x})e_x$ . Obviously,  $v \in \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(Z_{S_x})\partial R(x)$  by (3.5). Thus

$$w \left( \mathcal{D}_R(x) \cap \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \right)^2 \leq \mathbb{E} \left( \|Z - v\|^2 \right)$$
  
=  $\mathbb{E} \left( \|(Z_{T_x} - v_{T_x}) + (Z_{S_x} - v_{S_x})\|^2 \right)$   
=  $\mathbb{E} \left( \|Z_{T_x} - \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(Z_{S_x})e_x\|^2 \right)$   
=  $\mathbb{E} \left( \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(Z_{S_x})^2 \right) \|e_x\|^2 + \mathbb{E} \left( \|Z_{T_x}\|^2 \right)$   
=  $\mathbb{E} \left( \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(Z_{S_x})^2 \right) \|e_x\|^2 + \dim(T_x),$ 

where we used orthogonality of  $T_x$  and  $S_x$  in the first equality and  $\mathbb{E}\left(||Z_{T_x}||^2\right) = \operatorname{tr}(\mathbf{P}_{T_x}) = \dim(T_x)$ in the last equality. In the third equality, we used again orthogonality of  $T_x$  and  $S_x$  which entails that  $Z_{T_x}$ and  $Z_{S_x}$  are independent as Z is zero-mean Gaussian.

**Lasso** ( $\ell_1$ -norm) It is widely known that the  $\ell_1$ -norm promotes sparsity, see [15] for a comprehensive treatment. In our case, this corresponds to choosing

$$R(x) = \|x\|_{1} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} |x[i]|.$$
(3.6)

This regularizer is also referred to as  $\ell_1$ -synthesis in the signal processing community.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This generalizes the reasoning of [54] beyond group sparsity.

We denote  $(a_i)_{1 \le i \le n}$  the standard basis of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\operatorname{supp}(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{i \in [n] : x[i] \ne 0\}$ . Then, we have (see [66])

$$T_x = \operatorname{span}\left\{(a_i)_{i \in \operatorname{supp}(x)}\right\}, \quad e_x[i] = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign}(x[i]) & \text{if } i \in \operatorname{supp}(x) \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}, \text{ and } \sigma_{\mathcal{C}} = \|\cdot\|_{\infty}. \tag{3.7}$$

Thus if  $\bar{x}$  is s-sparse, *i.e.*  $|\operatorname{supp}(\bar{x})| = s$ , then  $\dim(T_{\bar{x}}) = s$  and  $||e_{\bar{x}}||^2 = s$ . Moreover

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(Z_{S_x})^2
ight) = \mathbb{E}\left(\max_{i\in \mathrm{supp}(ar{x})^c} |Z[i]|^2
ight),$$

which is the expectation of the maximum of  $(n - s) \chi^2$ -random variables with 1 degree of freedom. We then have, using [12, Example 2.7] (see also [54, Lemma 3.2]), that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\max_{i\in\operatorname{supp}(\bar{x})^c}|Z[i]|^2\right) \le \left(\sqrt{2\log(n-s)}+1\right)^2.$$

Plugging this into Lemma 3.12 and using Corollary 3.8, we obtain the following result.

**Proposition 3.13.** Let  $\bar{x}$  be an s-sparse vector. Let  $A : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$  be a Gaussian map with i.i.d  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries such that

$$m \ge \frac{64(1+t)(\nu+2)^2}{\nu^4} s\left(\left(\sqrt{2\log(n-s)}+1\right)^2+1\right)$$

for some t > 0. Then with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{-\frac{t\nu^2 m}{8}}$ , the recovery of  $\bar{x}$  (up to a global sign) is exact by solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  with  $R = \|\cdot\|_1$ .

**Remark 3.14.** Clearly,  $m \gtrsim s \log(n - s) + s$  measurements are sufficient for the exact recovery of an *s*-sparse vector from *m* phaseless (actually signless) measurements of a real Gaussian map *A*. This can be improved to  $m \gtrsim s \log(n/s) + s$  by exploiting the particular form of the normal cone of the  $\ell_1$  norm, see [21, Proposition 3.10]. This leads to a measurement bound similar to the one in [71]. Note however that their recovery guarantee is RIP-based, and thus is uniform over all *s*-sparse vectors while our recovery analysis is non-uniform.

**Group Lasso**  $(\ell_1 - \ell_2 \text{ norm})$  The  $\ell_1 - \ell_2$  norm (a.k.a. group Lasso) is widely advocated to promote group/block sparsity, *i.e.* it drives all the coefficients in one group to zero together hence leading to group selection, see [15]. The group Lasso regularization with L groups reads

$$R(x) = \|x\|_{1,2} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{i=1}^{L} \|x[b_i]\|_2.$$
(3.8)

where  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{L} b_i = [n], b_i, b_j \subset [n], \text{ and } b_i \cap b_j = \emptyset$  whenever  $i \neq j$ . Define the group support as  $\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{i \in [L]: x[b_i] \neq 0\}$ . Thus, one has

$$T_x = \operatorname{span}\left\{ (a_j)_{\left\{j: \exists i \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(x), j \in b_i\right\}} \right\}, \quad e_x[b_i] = \begin{cases} \frac{x[b_i]}{\|x[b_i]\|_2} & \text{if } i \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(x) \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases},$$
(3.9)

and

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(v) = \max_{i \in \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})^c} \|v[b_i]\|_2.$$
(3.10)

Thus if  $\bar{x}$  is s-block sparse, *i.e.*  $|\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})| = s$ , and the groups have equal size B, we have  $\dim(T_{\bar{x}}) = sB$  and  $||e_{\bar{x}}||^2 = s$ . Moreover, [12, Example 2.7] yields

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\max_{i\in\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})^{c}} \|Z[b_{i}]\|^{2}\right) \leq \left(\sqrt{2\log(L-s)} + \sqrt{B}\right)^{2}$$

Hence, we get the following result for the group Lasso.

**Proposition 3.15.** Let  $\bar{x}$  be an s-block sparse vector. Let  $A : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$  be a Gaussian map with i.i.d  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries such that

$$m \ge \frac{64(1+t)(\nu+2)^2}{\nu^4} s\left(\left(\sqrt{2\log(L-s)} + \sqrt{B}\right)^2 + B\right)$$

for some t > 0. Then with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{-\frac{t\nu^2 m}{8}}$ , the recovery of  $\bar{x}$  (up to a global sign) is exact by solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  with  $R = \|\cdot\|_{1,2}$ .

**Remark 3.16.** Our complexity bound for the group Lasso is of order  $m \ge s (2 \log(L - s) + B)$ . This bound is, up to a multiplicative constant, similar to the (linear) compressed sensing case with Gaussian sensing vectors, see [20, 53].

**Remark 3.17.** The authors in [37] proposed an algorithm which achieves exact reconstruction up to global sign from  $O(\frac{s^2}{B}\log(n))$ . This is worse than our scaling but we stress the fact that our guarantee is on the minimizers of the optimization problem ( $\mathcal{P}_{\bar{y},0}$ ), while theirs is on an actual iterative reconstruction algorithm. As we discussed in the introduction, whether a tractable algorithm exists with provable exact phase retrieval guarantees from Gaussian sensing vectors under the same complexity bounds as ours is still an open question that we leave to a future work.

#### 3.5 Recovery bounds for frame analysis-type regularizers

Analysis-type priors build upon the assumption that the signal of interest  $\bar{x}$  is of low complexity (*e.g.* sparse or block sparse) after being transformed by a so-called analysis operator. Given  $D \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times p}$ , we consider analysis-type regularizers of the form

$$R(x) = \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(D^{\top}x), \qquad (3.11)$$

where  $\gamma_C$  is a strong gauge (see Definition 3.11 and the discussion just after). Since  $\gamma_C$  has a full domain, we have

$$\partial R(x) = D \partial \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(D^{\top}x) = D \left\{ v \in \mathbb{R}^p : v_{T_D^{\top}x} = e_{D^{\top}x} \text{ and } \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(v_{S_D^{\top}x}) \le 1 \right\},$$
(3.12)

where  $e_{D^{\top}x}$  and  $T_{D^{\top}x}$  are the model parameters of  $\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}$  at  $D^{\top}x$ .

In this section, we will assume that D is a Parseval tight frame of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , meaning that  $DD^{\top} = \mathrm{Id}_n$ , and thus D is surjective. Many popular (sparsifying) transforms in signal and image processing are Parseval tight frames (e.g. wavelets, curvelets, or concatenation of orthonormal bases; see [61]).

We can now state the following analysis-type prior version of Lemma 3.12.

**Lemma 3.18.** Let R be of the form (3.11), where  $\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}$  is a strong gauge and D is a Parseval tight frame. Let  $W = D^{\top}Z$  where  $Z \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \mathrm{Id}_n)$ . Then for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ 

$$w\left(\mathcal{D}_R(x)\cap\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\right)^2 \le \mathbb{E}\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(W_{S_{D^{\top}x}})^2\right) \|e_{D^{\top}x}\|^2 + \dim\left(T_{D^{\top}x}\right).$$
(3.13)

The proof bears some similarities with that of Lemma 3.12, but handling the presence of D necessitates new arguments.

**Proof.** Since D is surjective and  $\gamma_c$  is a strong gauge, we have  $\operatorname{Argmin}(R) = \{0\}$ . We can then argue as in the proof of Lemma 3.12 using [21, Proposition 3.6] and [55, Theorem 23.7] to get that for any  $x \neq 0$ 

$$w\left(\mathcal{D}_R(x)\cap\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\right)^2\leq\inf_{t\geq0}\mathbb{E}\left(\operatorname{dist}\left(Z,t\partial R(x)\right)^2\right)\leq\mathbb{E}\left(\operatorname{dist}\left(Z,\tilde{t}D\partial\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(D^{\top}x)\right)^2\right)$$

for any  $\tilde{t} \geq 0$ , where we have also used (3.12). Let us pick  $v \in \mathbb{R}^p$  such that  $v_{S_{D^{\top}x}} = W_{S_{D^{\top}x}}$  and  $v_{T_{D^{\top}x}} = \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(W_{S_{D^{\top}x}})e_{D^{\top}x}$ . Obviously,  $v \in \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(W_{S_{D^{\top}x}})\partial\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(x)$ . We then have

$$\begin{split} w\left(\mathcal{D}_{R}(x)\cap\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\right)^{2} &\leq \mathbb{E}\left(\left\|Z-Dv\right\|^{2}\right)\\ (D \text{ is a Parseval tight frame}) &= \mathbb{E}\left(\left\|DD^{\top}Z-Dv\right\|^{2}\right)\\ (\|D\|=1) &\leq \mathbb{E}\left(\left\|W-v\right\|^{2}\right)\\ &= \mathbb{E}\left(\left\|\left(W_{T_{D^{\top}x}}-v_{T_{D^{\top}x}}\right)+\left(W_{S_{D^{\top}x}}-v_{S_{D^{\top}x}}\right)\right\|^{2}\right)\\ &= \mathbb{E}\left(\left\|W_{T_{D^{\top}x}}-\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(W_{S_{D^{\top}x}})e_{D^{\top}x}\right\|^{2}\right)\\ &= \mathbb{E}\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(W_{S_{D^{\top}x}})^{2}\right)\left\|e_{D^{\top}x}\right\|^{2} + \mathbb{E}\left(\left\|W_{T_{D^{\top}x}}\right\|^{2}\right). \end{split}$$

In the last equality, we used that  $W_{T_D^{\top}x}$  and  $W_{S_D^{\top}x}$  are zero-mean and uncorrelated since  $T_{D^{\top}x}$  and  $S_{D^{\top}x}$  are orthogonal, hence independent as they are Gaussian. Let  $\varsigma(M)$  be the decreasing sequence of singular values of M. We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left(\left\|W_{T_{D^{\top}x}}\right\|^{2}\right) &= \mathbb{E}\left(\operatorname{tr}\left(\mathbf{P}_{T_{D^{\top}x}}D^{\top}ZZ^{\top}D\mathbf{P}_{T_{D^{\top}x}}\right)\right) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}\left(\mathbf{P}_{T_{D^{\top}x}}D^{\top}D\mathbf{P}_{T_{D^{\top}x}}\right) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}\left(\mathbf{P}_{T_{D^{\top}x}}D^{\top}D\right) \\ (\text{von Neumann's trace inequality [70]}) &\leq \left\langle\varsigma\left(\mathbf{P}_{T_{D^{\top}x}}\right),\varsigma(D^{\top}D)\right\rangle \\ (\text{Hölder's inequality}) &\leq \left\|\varsigma\left(\mathbf{P}_{T_{D^{\top}x}}\right)\right\|_{1}\|D\|^{2} \end{split}$$

 $(||D|| = 1 \text{ and standard properties of orthogonal projectors on subspaces}) = \dim (T_D^{\top}x)$ .

The remaining step to get a sample complexity bound via Corollary 3.8 is to compute the expectation in the upper-bound (3.13). We directly consider the case where  $\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}$  is the group Lasso and the Lasso is a special case by taking blocks/groups of size 1.

Frame analysis group Lasso In this case,  $\gamma_{\mathcal{C}} = \|\cdot\|_{1,2}$  (see (3.8)), and thus  $T_{D^{\top}x}$ ,  $e_{D^{\top}x}$  and  $\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}$  are given by (3.9) and (3.10) replacing x by  $D^{\top}x$ . Thus if  $\bar{x}$  is s-block sparse in the dictionary  $D^{\top}$ , *i.e.*  $|\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(D^{\top}\bar{x})| = s$ , then  $\dim(T_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}) = sB$  and  $||e_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}||^2 = s$ . It remains to compute  $\mathbb{E}\left(\max_{i\in\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})^c} ||W[b_i]||^2\right)$ . Note that some care has to be taken as the entries of W are zero-mean Gaussian but are not independent (except in the obvious case where D is orthonormal). For t > 0, we

have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left(\max_{i\in\mathrm{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})^{c}}\|W[b_{i}]\|^{2}\right) &= \frac{\log\left(\exp\left(t\mathbb{E}\left(\max_{i\in\mathrm{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})^{c}}\|W[b_{i}]\|^{2}\right)\right)\right)}{t}\\ (\text{Jensen's inequality}) &\leq \frac{\log\left(\mathbb{E}\left(\exp\left(t\max_{i\in\mathrm{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})^{c}}\|W[b_{i}]\|^{2}\right)\right)\right)}{t}\\ (\text{Monotonicity of the exponential}) &= \frac{\log\left(\mathbb{E}\left(\max_{i\in\mathrm{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})^{c}}\exp\left(t\|W[b_{i}]\|^{2}\right)\right)\right)}{t}\\ (\text{Bound the max by the sum}) &\leq \frac{\log\left(\sum_{i\in\mathrm{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})^{c}}\mathbb{E}\left(\exp\left(t\|W[b_{i}]\|^{2}\right)\right)\right)}{t}. \end{split}$$

Now, for any block b, we have

$$\|W[b]\|^2 = Z^\top D_b D_b^\top Z.$$

The matrix  $D_b D_b^{\top}$  is symmetric semidefinite positive and  $\operatorname{rank}(D_b D_b^{\top}) \leq \min(B, n) \leq B$  provided that  $B \leq n$  (in practice, we even have  $B \ll n$ ). Moreover  $\lambda_{\max}(D_b D_b^{\top}) \leq 1$ .  $D_b D_b$  can be diagonalized as  $D_b D_b^{\top} = U \Lambda U^{\top}$ , where U is orthogonal and  $\Lambda$  is a diagonal matrix with the eigenvalues  $1 \geq \lambda_1 \geq$  $\dots \geq \lambda_n \geq 0$  of  $D_b D_b^{\top}$  in its diagonal. Observe that  $\lambda_i = 0$  for  $i \geq B + 1$ . Thus

$$||W[b]||^2 = \sum_{i=1}^B \lambda_i Y[i]^2 \le \sum_{i=1}^B Y[i]^2$$
 where  $Y = U^\top Z$ .

By the rotational invariance of the standard multivariate normal distribution, the distribution of Y is the same as that of Z, that is,  $Y \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \mathrm{Id}_n)$ . In turn,  $\sum_{i=1}^{B} Y[i]^2$  is a  $\chi$ -squared random variable with B degrees of freedom. Therefore, for  $t \in ]0, 1/2[$ , we get

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\max_{i\in\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})^{c}}\|W[b_{i}]\|^{2}\right) \leq \frac{\log\left((L-s)\mathbb{E}\left(\exp\left(t\sum_{i=1}^{B}Y[i]^{2}\right)\right)\right)}{t}$$
$$= \frac{\log(L-s) - \frac{B}{2}\log(1-2t)}{t},$$

where we used the logarithm of the moment-generating of a  $\chi$ -squared random variable in the last inequality. Minimizing wrt to t we get that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\max_{i\in\operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})^{c}}\|W[b_{i}]\|^{2}\right) \leq 2\log(L-s) + 2\sqrt{B\log(L-s)} + B \leq \left(\sqrt{2\log(L-s)} + \sqrt{B}\right)^{2}.$$

Inserting the above in Lemma 3.18, and using Corollary 3.8 together with Jensen's inequality, we get the following.

**Proposition 3.19.** Let  $\bar{x}$  be such that  $D^{\top}\bar{x}$  is an s-block sparse vector where the size of the blocks B verifies  $B \leq n$ . Let  $A : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$  be a Gaussian map with i.i.d  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries such that

$$m \ge \frac{64(1+t)(\nu+2)^2}{\nu^4} s\left(\left(\sqrt{2\log(L-s)} + \sqrt{B}\right)^2 + B\right), t > 0.$$

Then with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{-\frac{t\nu^2 m}{8}}$ , the recovery of  $\bar{x}$  (up to a global sign) is exact by solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  with  $R = \|D^{\top} \cdot\|_{1,2}$ .

Remark 3.20.

- Consequently, it is sufficient to have m ≥ s log(p/B − s) + sB to ensure the exact recovery of a vector whose coefficients are s-sparse in a tight frame D, from m phaseless measurements of a Gaussian map A. We are not aware of any such result in the phase recovery literature.
- The analysis sparse case is directly covered by taking B = 1 and L = n.
- Observe also that the sample complexity bound we get is nearly (up to constants) the same as for exact recovery from (linear) compressed sensing with Gaussian measurements [20].

#### 3.6 Recovery bounds for total variation

Total variation (TV) corresponds to the case where the analysis operator  $D^{\top}$  in (3.11) is the (discrete) gradient  $\nabla$  and  $\gamma_{\mathcal{C}} = \|\cdot\|_1$ . In the 1D case, TV regularization reads

$$R(x) = \|\nabla x\|_1$$
, where  $\nabla x[i] = x[i+1] - x[i]$ , for  $i = 1, 2, ..., n-1$ .

R promotes signals x whose gradient is sparse,  $|\operatorname{supp}(\nabla x)| \leq s$ , or in other words, signals that are piecewise constant with at most s jumps.

Bounding the Gaussian width of the descent cone of R in this case is very challenging as  $\nabla$  has a non-trivial kernel, and thus does not fit within the setting of the previous section. However, if the jumps of an *s*-gradient sparse signal x are well separated, [28] proposed a non-trivial construction of the dual vector to compute the Gaussian width of the descent cone of TV in 1D. More precisely, assume that there exists  $\Delta > 0$  such that

$$\min_{i \in [s+1]} \frac{|k_i - k_{i-1}|}{n} \ge \frac{\Delta}{s+1},$$

where  $\operatorname{supp}(\nabla x) = \{i_1, \ldots, i_s\}$  with  $0 = i_0 < i_1 < \ldots < i_s < i_{s+1} = n$ . It was shown in [28, Theorem 2.10] that if  $\Delta \geq 8s/n$ , then

$$w\left(\mathcal{D}_{\|\nabla\cdot\|_1}(x)\cap\mathbb{S}^{n-1}
ight)^2\leq rac{C}{\Delta}s\log(n)^2,$$

for some numerical constant C > 0.

We are then able to state the following result.

**Proposition 3.21.** Let  $\bar{x}$  be such that its gradient is sparse,  $|\operatorname{supp}(\nabla x)| \leq s$  such that its separation constant  $\Delta$  verifies  $\Delta \geq 8s/n$ . Let  $A : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$  be a Gaussian map with i.i.d  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries such that

$$m \gtrsim \frac{1}{\Delta} s \log(n)^2.$$

Then with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{-\frac{\nu^2 m}{16}}$ , the recovery of  $\bar{x}$  (up to a global sign) is exact by solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  with  $R = \|\nabla \cdot\|_1$ .

**Remark 3.22.** As mentioned before, finding complexity bounds for TV minimization is quite challenging even in the compressed sensing literature. In this setting, [45, 46, 16] showed, for two or higher dimensions signals, robust and stable recovery when A is Gaussian and composed with orthonormal Haar wavelet transform. The complexity in this case is of order  $m \ge s$ PolyLog(n, s). The success of this approach relies on establishing a connection between the compressibility of Haar wavelet representations and the bounded variation of a function and this does not hold in one dimension. We think that it might be possible to extend this result to the case of phase retrieval and we leave this as future work.

## 4 Stable Recovery: Constrained Problem

When we have access only to inaccurate noisy measurements as in (GeneralPR), a natural formulation is one in which the equality constraint in  $(\mathcal{P}_{\bar{y},0})$  is relaxed to an inequality leading to

$$\inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} R(x) \quad \text{s.t.} \quad \left\| y - |Ax|^2 \right\| \le \rho, \tag{$\mathcal{P}_{y,\rho}$}$$

where  $\rho$  is an upper bound on the size of the noise  $\epsilon$ . In the inverse problems literature, this formulation is known as the residual method or Mozorov regularization. In the following, we denote  $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{y,\rho} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ w \in \mathbb{R}^n : ||y - |w|^2 || \le \rho \}$ . We obviously have  $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\overline{y},0} = \overline{\mathcal{F}}$ . We also use the shorthand notation  $\mathcal{S}_{y,\rho}$  for the set of minimizers of  $(\mathcal{P}_{y,\rho})$ .

We start by showing that  $(\mathscr{P}_{u,\rho})$  has minimizers. This result does not require convexity of R.

**Proposition 4.1.** Let  $R : \mathbb{R}^n \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be a proper and lsc function. Assume that  $A(\operatorname{dom}(R)) \cap \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{y,\rho} \neq \emptyset$ , and that assumptions (*ii*)-(*iii*) of Proposition 3.1 hold. Then  $S_{y,\rho}$  is a non-empty compact set.

**Proof.** The proof is similar to that of Proposition 3.1 replacing  $\overline{\mathcal{F}}$  by  $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{y,\rho}$ , and using compactness of the latter.

We are now ready to state our (deterministic) stability result.

**Theorem 4.2.** Consider the noisy phaseless measurements in (GeneralPR) where  $\|\epsilon\| \le \rho$ . Assume that  $S_{y,\rho} \ne \emptyset$  and R verifies (H.1). Then, for any  $x_{y,\rho}^* \in S_{y,\rho}$ , we have

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_{y,\rho}^{\star},\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \leq \frac{2\rho}{s_{\min}}$$

where

$$s_{\min} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \inf \left\{ \min_{I \subset \llbracket m \rrbracket, |I| \ge m/2} \left\| A^{I} z \right\| : \ z \in \mathcal{D}_{R}(\bar{x}) \cap \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \right\} > 0.$$

**Proof.** The proof has a flavour of the reasoning in the proof of Theorem 3.4. Let  $I \subset [\![m]\!]$  such that  $\langle a_r, x_{y,\rho}^{\star} \rangle = \langle a_r, \bar{x} \rangle$  for all  $r \in I$ , and  $I^c$  its complement where the inner products have opposite signs. Thus either  $|I| \ge m/2$  or  $|I^c| \ge m/2$ . Assume that  $|I| \ge m/2$ . Then

$$\left\| |Ax_{y,\rho}^{\star}| - |A\bar{x}| \right\|^{2} = \left\| |A^{I}x_{y,\rho}^{\star}| - |A^{I}\bar{x}| \right\|^{2} + \left\| |A^{I^{c}}x_{y,\rho}^{\star}| - |A^{I^{c}}\bar{x}| \right\|^{2} \\ \geq \left\| A^{I}x_{y,\rho}^{\star} - A^{I}\bar{x} \right\|^{2}.$$

Recall that  $\bar{x} \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{y,\rho}$  by assumption on the noise. Thus  $R(x_{y,\rho}^{\star}) \leq R(\bar{x})$  and in turn  $x_{y,\rho}^{\star} - \bar{x} \in \mathcal{D}_R(\bar{x})$ . Therefore,

$$||Ax_{y,\rho}^{\star}| - |A\bar{x}|||^2 \ge ||A^I(x_{y,\rho}^{\star} - \bar{x})||^2 \ge s_{\min}^2 ||x_{y,\rho}^{\star} - \bar{x}||^2.$$

For the case where  $|I^c| \ge m/2$ , we argue similarly to infer that

$$\left\| |Ax_{y,\rho}^{\star}| - |A\bar{x}| \right\|^{2} \ge \left\| A^{I^{c}}(x_{y,\rho}^{\star} + \bar{x}) \right\|^{2} \ge s_{\min}^{2} \left\| x_{y,\rho}^{\star} + \bar{x} \right\|^{2}.$$

Overall, we have

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_{y,\rho}^{\star},\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \leq \frac{\left\| |Ax_{y,\rho}^{\star}| - |A\overline{x}| \right\|}{s_{\min}} \leq \frac{\left\| y - |Ax_{y,\rho}^{\star}| \right\| + \|\epsilon\|}{s_{\min}} \leq \frac{2\rho}{s_{\min}}.$$

When A is a standard Gaussian map, we obtain the following general error bound.

**Proposition 4.3.** Consider the noisy phaseless measurements in (GeneralPR) where  $\|\epsilon\| \leq \rho$ . Suppose that (H.1) holds. Let  $\nu$  be as defined in Lemma 3.6 and A be a Gaussian map with i.i.d  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries such that

$$m \ge \frac{64(1+t)(\nu+2)^2}{\nu^4} w \left( \mathcal{D}_R(\bar{x}) \cap \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \right)^2$$

for some t > 0. Then with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{-\frac{t\nu^2 m}{8}}$ , the following holds:

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_{y,\rho}^{\star},\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \leq \frac{4\rho}{\nu(1-1/\sqrt{2})} \quad \text{for any} \quad x_{y,\rho}^{\star} \in \mathcal{S}_{y,\rho}$$

**Proof.** Taking  $\varepsilon = \frac{\nu}{\sqrt{2}(2+\nu)}$  in (3.2) as devised in Corollary 3.8, we have

$$s_{\min} \ge \nu/2(1 - 1/\sqrt{2}) > 0$$

with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{-\frac{t\nu^2 m}{8}}$  under the bound on *m*. Combining this with Theorem 4.2, we conclude.

In [27], the authors studied the stability of  $\ell_1$ -norm phase retrieval against noise and showed that for  $m \gtrsim s \log(n/s)$ , any *s*-sparse vector can be stably recovered from measurement maps *A* that satisfy the strong-RIP property. Our stability result here is RIP-less. Moreover it goes far beyond the  $\ell_1$ -norm.

For Gaussian measurements, Proposition 4.3 gives a sample complexity bound that depends on the Gaussian width of the descent cone. We can easily instantiate the last result for the regularizers studied in Section 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6, which in turn will give sample complexity bounds for the error bound of Theorem 3.7 to hold. We refrain from doing this for the sake of brevity and the straightforward details are left to the reader.

Let us finally notice that despite the nice stability properties enjoyed by  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\rho})$ , this problem seems challenging to solve numerically. Indeed, although R is convex, the constraint in  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\rho})$  is highly nonconvex, and it is an open problem to design an efficient algorithmic scheme to solve it. On the other hand, as stated in the introduction,  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  is amenable to the efficient Bregman Proximal Gradient algorithmic scheme proposed [11]. This is the reason we now turn our attention to  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$ .

## 5 Stable Recovery: Penalized Problem

We now turn to study the noise-aware problem  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$ . In particular, the following questions will be of most interest to us:

- (Q.1) Convergence: how to ensure that for  $\epsilon \to 0$ , the set of regularized solutions converges to either  $\bar{x}$  or  $-\bar{x}$ ?
- (Q.2) Convergence rates: at which rate (in term of noise) the above convergence takes place ?

We will answer these two questions in the rest of the paper. In a nutshell, we will show that we indeed have convergence as the noise vanishes, and stability only occurs locally, *i.e.* for small enough noise, with an error bound that scales linearly with the noise level.

As we will see, studying the stability of  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  is more involved than for  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\rho})$ . One of the main difficulties, which was also highlighted for linear inverse problems (see [67]), is that a minimizer of  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  is not anymore in the descent cone of R at  $\bar{x}$ .

In this section, we set

$$\mathcal{S}_{y,\lambda} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname*{Argmin}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} F_{y,\lambda}(x),$$

where we recall the objective  $F_{y,\lambda}$  from  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$ .

We begin by providing conditions for the existence of minimizers. Again, this does not need convexity of R.

**Proposition 5.1.** Let  $R : \mathbb{R}^n \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be a proper and lsc function. Assume that assumptions (ii)-(iii) of Proposition 3.1 hold. Then for any  $\lambda > 0$  and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , problem  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  has a non-empty compact set of minimizers.

**Proof.** The proof is similar to that of Proposition 3.1 replacing  $\iota_{\overline{F}}$  by  $||y - |\cdot|^2 ||^2 / 2$ , and the latter turns out to be a smooth and coercive function.

### 5.1 Convergence

We start by answering (Q.1) above and proving the following convergence result for any minimizer  $x_{y,\lambda}^{\star}$  of  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$ . This can be seen as a  $\Gamma$ -convergence result of the objective in  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  to that of  $(\mathscr{P}_{\bar{y},0})$ .

**Theorem 5.2.** Consider the noisy phaseless measurements in (GeneralPR). Let  $\sigma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} ||\epsilon||$ . Assume that (H.1), (H.2) and assumptions (*ii*)-(*iii*) of Proposition 3.1 hold. Suppose also that

$$\lambda \to 0 \text{ and } \sigma^2 / \lambda \to 0, \text{ as } \sigma \to 0.$$

Then,

$$|Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}| \to |A\bar{x}|, \quad R(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star}) \to R(\bar{x}) \text{ and } \operatorname{dist}\left(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star}, \overline{\mathcal{X}}\right) \to 0 \quad as \quad \sigma \to 0.$$

**Proof.** Let  $y_k = \bar{y} + \epsilon_k$ ,  $\sigma_k = ||\epsilon_k||$  with  $\sigma_k \to 0$  as  $k \to +\infty$ . Observe that for any  $y_k$  and  $\lambda_k > 0$  $S_{y_k,\lambda_k}$  is a non-empty compact set thanks to Proposition 5.1. Let  $x_k^* \in S_{y_k,\lambda_k}$ . We have by optimality that

$$\|y_k - |Ax_k^{\star}|^2\|^2 + \lambda_k R(x_k^{\star}) \le \|y_k - \bar{y}\|^2 + \lambda_k R(\bar{x}) = \sigma_k^2 + \lambda_k R(\bar{x}).$$

Thus

$$\left\| y_k - |Ax_k^{\star}|^2 \right\|^2 \le \lambda_k \left( \sigma_k^2 / \lambda_k + R(\bar{x}) \right)$$
  
and

$$R(x_{y_k,\lambda_k}^{\star}) \le \sigma_k^2/\lambda_k + R(\bar{x}).$$

In turn,

$$\left\| |Ax_{k}^{\star}|^{2} - \bar{y} \right\|^{2} \leq 2 \left( \left\| y_{k} - |Ax_{k}^{\star}|^{2} \right\|^{2} + \sigma_{k}^{2} \right) \leq 2 \left( \lambda_{k} \left( \sigma_{k}^{2} / \lambda_{k} + R(\bar{x}) \right) + \sigma_{k}^{2} \right)$$

Since the right hand side of this inequality goes to 0 as  $k \to +\infty$ , we deduce that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} |Ax_k^\star|^2 = \bar{y}.$$
(5.1)

Moreover,

$$\limsup_{k \to +\infty} R(x_k^\star) \le R(\bar{x}).$$
(5.2)

We therefore obtain

$$\limsup_{k \to +\infty} F_{\bar{y},1}(x_k^{\star}) = \limsup_{k \to +\infty} \left( \left\| |Ax_k^{\star}|^2 - \bar{y} \right\|^2 + R(x_k^{\star}) \right) \le R(\bar{x}).$$

This means that there exists  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $(x_k^{\star})_{k \geq k_0}$  belongs to the sublevel set of  $F_{\bar{y},1}$  at  $2R(\bar{x})$ , that we denote  $\mathcal{C}_F$ . Since  $F_{\bar{y},1}$  is lsc and coercive under our assumptions, its sublevel sets are compact and so is  $\mathcal{C}_F$ . In turn,  $(x_k^{\star})_{k \geq k_0}$  lives on the compact set  $\mathcal{C}_F$ . The sequence thus possesses a convergent

subsequence and every accumulation point lies  $C_F$ . Let  $(x_{k_j}^{\star})_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a convergent subsequence, say  $x_{k_j}^{\star} \to x^*$ . We have  $|Ax_{k_j}^{\star}|^2 \to |Ax^*|^2$ , and in view of (5.1), we obtain

$$|Ax^*|^2 = \bar{y}.$$
 (5.3)

Moreover, by lower-semicontinuity of R and (5.2),

$$R(x^*) \le \liminf_{j \to +\infty} R(x^*_{k_j}) \le \limsup_{j \to +\infty} R(x^*_{k_j}) \le R(\bar{x}).$$
(5.4)

Invoking Theorem 3.4 (which holds under our assumptions), (5.3) and (5.4) mean that  $x^* \in S_{\bar{y},0} = \overline{\mathcal{X}}$ . (5.4) also tells us that  $R(\bar{x}) = R(x^*)$ , and thus we have  $R(x_{k_j}^*) \to R(\bar{x})$ . Since this holds for any convergent subsequence, we conclude.

Thanks to Corollary 3.8, we know that (H.2) holds with high probability when A is a Gaussian map provided that m is large enough. Combining this with Theorem 5.2, we get the following asymptotic robustness result.

**Proposition 5.3.** Consider the noisy phaseless measurements in (GeneralPR) and let  $\sigma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} ||\epsilon||$ . Assume that R fullfills (H.1) and assumptions (*ii*)-(*iii*) of Proposition 3.1 hold. Suppose also that

$$\lambda \to 0 \text{ and } \sigma^2 / \lambda \to 0, \text{ as } \sigma \to 0.$$

Let  $\nu$  be as defined in Lemma 3.6, and A be a Gaussian map with i.i.d  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries such that

$$m \ge \frac{64(1+t)(\nu+2)^2}{\nu^4} w \left( \mathcal{D}_R(\bar{x}) \cap \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \right)^2$$

for some t > 0. Then with probability at least  $1 - 3e^{-\frac{t\nu^2 m}{8}}$ ,

dist 
$$(x_{u,\lambda}^{\star}, \overline{\mathcal{X}}) \to 0$$
 as  $\sigma \to 0$ .

This result can be specialized with the corresponding sample complexity bounds for each of the regularizers considered in Section 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6. We omit again the details which are left to the reader.

#### 5.2 Convergence rate

We now turn to answering (Q.2) by quantifying the rate at which convergence of Theorem 5.2 occurs. This will be possible under more stringent conditions. For instance, we will require the noise to be small enough to that the rate is actually local as it is already known for phase retrieval in the un-regularized case. We moreover need a non-degeneracy condition and a restricted injectivity conditions which are standard in inverse problems; see Remark 5.5 for a detailed discussion.

To lighten notation, let us denote

$$B_{\bar{x}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{diag}(A\bar{x})A$$

The rationale behind this operator is that  $B_{\bar{x}}\bar{x} = |A\bar{x}|^2$ , and thus  $B_{\bar{x}}$  will appear naturally from a linearization of the forward model. Indeed,  $B_{\bar{x}}$  is nothing but the Jacobian of the non-linear mapping  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto |Ax|^2/2$  at  $\bar{x}$ .

Although the following result can be stated for general symmetric convex regularizers R, to avoid additional technicalities and make the presentation simpler, we will restrict our attention to the case of analysis-type symmetric strong gauges which will be sufficient for our purposes. More precisely, R will be of the form (3.11), where D is a Parseval tight frame and  $\gamma_C$  is a symmetric strong gauge. We recall the definition, notations, and properties of Section 3.4.

**Theorem 5.4.** Consider the noisy phaseless measurements in (GeneralPR). Let  $\sigma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} ||\epsilon||$ . Assume that R is as in (3.11), where D is a Parseval tight frame and  $\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}$  is a symmetric strong gauge, and let  $\lambda = c\sigma$ , for some c > 0. Then, the following holds.

(*i*) If

$$\exists q \in \mathbb{R}^m \quad s.t. \quad B_{\bar{x}}^{\top} q \in \partial R(\bar{x}), \tag{SC}$$

then for any minimizer  $x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} \in \mathcal{S}_{y,\lambda}$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2} \right\| &\leq \frac{\|A\|^{2}}{2} \left\| x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x} \right\|^{2} + (2 + c \|q\|) \sigma \\ and \\ D_{R}^{v}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star}, \bar{x}) &\leq \frac{\|q\|}{2} \|A\|^{2} \left\| x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x} \right\|^{2} + \frac{\left(2 + \frac{c}{2} \|q\|\right)^{2}}{2c} \sigma. \end{aligned}$$
(5.5)

(ii) If

$$\exists q \in \mathbb{R}^m \quad s.t. \quad B_{\bar{x}}^{\top} q \in \operatorname{ri}(\partial R(\bar{x}))$$
 (NDSC)

and

$$\ker(B_{\bar{x}}) \cap \operatorname{Im}(D_{T_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}}) = \{0\}.$$
(RI)

then for  $\sigma$  small enough and any minimizer  $x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} \in S_{y,\lambda}$ , we have

dist 
$$\left(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star}, \overline{\mathcal{X}}\right) \leq C\sigma$$

where C > 0 is a constant which depends in particular on A,  $T_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}$ , c and q.

A few remarks are in order before we proceed with the proof.

#### Remark 5.5.

- since R verifies all assumptions of Theorem 5.2, we have that  $S_{y,\lambda}$  are bounded uniformly in  $(y, \lambda)$ , and it follows from (5.5) that the error  $|||Ax_{u,\lambda}^{\star}|^2 |A\bar{x}|^2||$  is global and scales as  $O(\max(\sigma^{1/2}, \sigma))$ .
- The error bound of Theorem 5.4 tells us that for small noise, the distance of any minimizer of  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  to  $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$  is within a factor of the noise level, which justifies the terminology "linear convergence rate" known in the inverse problem literature.
- Non-degenerate Source Condition: the condition (NDSC) is a strengthened or non-degenerate version of (SC) well-known as the "source condition" or "range condition" in the literature of inverse problems; see [57] for a general overview of this condition and its implications. In this case, v = B<sup>T</sup><sub>x̄</sub> q is called a non-degenerate "dual" certificate<sup>5</sup>; see [67] for a detailed discussion in the case of linear inverse problems.
- Restricted Injectivity: the condition (RI) is only favorable when γ<sub>C</sub> is non-smooth at D<sup>T</sup>x̄, hence the intuition that γ<sub>C</sub> (hence R) promotes low-dimensional vectors. Indeed, the higher the degree of non-smoothness, the lower the dimension of the subspace T<sub>D<sup>T</sup>x̄</sub>, and hence the less number of measurements is needed for (RI) to hold. From the calculus rules in [66, Proposition 10(i)-(ii)], the model subspace of the regularizer R at x̄ is ker(D<sup>T</sup><sub>D<sup>T</sup>x̄</sub>). Since D is a Parseval tight frame, one can easily show that ker(D<sup>T</sup><sub>D<sup>T</sup>x̄</sub>) ⊆ Im(D<sub>T<sub>D<sup>T</sup>x̄</sub>), with equality if D orthonormal. Thus (RI) implies that B<sub>x̄</sub> is injective on the model subspace of R at x̄, which is a minimal requirement to ensure recovery as is known even for linear inverse problems.
  </sub>
- Convergence rates for regularized non-linear inverse problems were studied in [57]. However, their conditions are too stringent and do not hold for the case of phase retrieval by solving  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Strictly speaking, the terminology "dual" may seem awkward because of non-convexity of the phase retrieval problem  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  though it is weakly convex.

The following lemma is a key step towards establishing our error bound.

**Lemma 5.6.** Let R be as in (3.11) where  $D \in \mathbb{R}^{p \times n}$  and  $\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}$  is a strong gauge of  $\mathcal{C}$ . Let  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then, for any  $w \in \operatorname{ri}(\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(D^{\top}x))$  and  $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$ 

$$\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}\left(\mathbf{P}_{S_{D^{\top}x}}D^{\top}(z-x)\right) \leq \frac{D_{R}^{Dw}(z,x)}{1 - \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}\left(w_{S_{D^{\top}x}}\right)} = \frac{D_{\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}}^{w}(D^{\top}z,D^{\top}x)}{1 - \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}\left(w_{S_{D^{\top}x}}\right)}.$$

Observe that by the decomposability property in (3.3) the following equivalent holds:

$$w \in \operatorname{ri}(\partial \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(D^{\top}x)) \iff w_{T_{D^{\top}z}} = e_{D^{\top}x} \text{ and } \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(w_{S_{D^{\top}x}}) < 1.$$
 (5.6)

In plain words, the denominator in Lemma 5.6 does not vanish and the statement is not vacuous. In fact, this denominator can be viewed as a "distance" to degeneracy.

**Proof.** We start by noting that  $\operatorname{ri}(\partial R(x)) = D\operatorname{ri}(\partial \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(D^{\top}x))$ . Let v = Dw. We have by convexity and decomposability of the subdifferential of  $\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}$  that for any pair  $(u, w) \in \partial \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(D^{\top}x) \times \operatorname{ri}(\partial \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(D^{\top}x))$ ,

$$\begin{split} D^v_R(z,x) &= D^w_{\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}}(D^\top z, D^\top x) \\ &\geq D^w_{\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}}(D^\top z, D^\top x) - D^u_{\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}}(D^\top z, D^\top x) \\ &= \left\langle u - w, D^\top z - D^\top x \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle u_{S_{D^\top z}} - w_{S_{D^\top z}}, D^\top z - D^\top x \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

From [42, Theorem 1], specialized to strong gauges, we have that for any  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^p$ ,  $\exists \tilde{u} \in \partial \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(D^\top x)$  such that

$$\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(\omega_{S_{D^{\top}x}}) = \left\langle \tilde{u}_{S_{D^{\top}x}}, \omega_{S_{D^{\top}x}} \right\rangle.$$

Applying this with  $\omega = D^{\top}z - D^{\top}x$  and taking  $u = \tilde{u}$ , continuing the above chain of inequalities yields

$$\begin{split} D_{R}^{v}(z,x) &\geq \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathbf{P}_{S_{D^{\top}x}}(D^{\top}z - D^{\top}x)) - \left\langle w_{S_{D^{\top}x}}, \mathbf{P}_{S_{D^{\top}x}}(D^{\top}z - D^{\top}x) \right\rangle \\ &\geq \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(\mathbf{P}_{S_{D^{\top}x}}(D^{\top}z - D^{\top}x)) \left(1 - \sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(w_{S_{D^{\top}x}}\right), \end{split}$$

where in the last inequality, we used the duality inequality which holds by polarity between  $\gamma_c$  and  $\sigma_c$ . This concludes the proof.

**Proof of Theorem 5.4.** (i) Let  $x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} \in S_{y,\lambda}$  and suppose that  $\bar{x}$  is its closest point in  $\overline{\mathcal{X}}$ . We have by optimality that

$$\left\|y - |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2}\right\|^{2} + \lambda R(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star}) \leq \sigma^{2} + \lambda R(\bar{x}).$$

the source condition (NDSC), there exists  $q \in \mathbb{R}^m$  such that  $v \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} B_{\bar{x}}^\top q \in \operatorname{ri}(\partial R(\bar{x}))$ . Convexity of R then implies

$$\begin{split} \left\|y - |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2}\right\|^{2} + \lambda D_{R}^{v}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star},\bar{x}) &\leq \sigma^{2} - \lambda \left\langle q, B_{\bar{x}}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\rangle \\ &= \sigma^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left\langle q, |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - A\bar{x}|^{2} + (|Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2}) \right\rangle \\ \\ \text{(Cauchy-Schwarz inequality)} &\leq \sigma^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left( \left\|q\right\| \left\|Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - A\bar{x}\right\|_{4}^{2} + \left\|q\right\| \left\||Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2}\right\| \right) \\ \\ &(\left\|\cdot\right\|_{4} \leq \left\|\cdot\right\|) \leq \sigma^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left\|q\right\| \left( \left\|Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - A\bar{x}\right\|^{2} + \left\||Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2}\right\| \right). \end{split}$$

Strong convexity of  $\|\cdot\|^2$  implies that

$$\left\| y - |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} \right\|^{2} - \sigma^{2} \ge 2\left\langle \epsilon, |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2} \right\rangle + \left\| |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2} \right\|^{2}.$$

Thus

$$\begin{split} \left\| |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2} \right\|^{2} + \lambda D_{R}^{v}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star},\bar{x}) \\ &\leq -2\left\langle \epsilon, |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2} \right\rangle + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left\| q \right\| \left( \left\| Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - A\bar{x} \right\|^{2} + \left\| |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2} \right\| \right) \right) \\ (\text{Cauchy-Schwarz inequality}) &\leq \frac{\lambda}{2} \left\| q \right\| \left\| Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - A\bar{x} \right\|^{2} + \left( 2\sigma + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left\| q \right\| \right) \left\| |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2} \right\| \\ (\text{Young's inequality}) &\leq \frac{\lambda}{2} \left\| q \right\| \left\| A \right\|^{2} \left\| x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x} \right\|^{2} + \frac{\left( 2\sigma + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left\| q \right\| \right)^{2}}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left\| |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2} \right\|^{2}, \end{split}$$

therefore

$$\left\| |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2} \right\|^{2} + 2\lambda D_{R}^{v}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star},\bar{x}) \leq \lambda \|q\| \|A\|^{2} \|x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}\|^{2} + \left(2\sigma + \frac{\lambda}{2} \|q\|\right)^{2}.$$

Using the choice  $\lambda = c\sigma$ , non-negativity of the Bregman divergence of R, that  $\sqrt{a+b} \le \sqrt{a} + \sqrt{b}$  and Young's inequality, we get (5.5).

(ii) By the triangle inequality and since D is a Parseval tight frame, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x} \right\| &= \left\| DD^{\top}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\| \\ &\leq \left\| DP_{T_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} D^{\top}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\| + \left\| P_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} D^{\top}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\|. \end{aligned}$$

Denote  $V_{\bar{x}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Im}(D_{T_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}})$ . In view of (RI), we have  $B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^+ = (B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^\top B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}})^{-1} B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^\top$ . Moreover, since  $v \in \operatorname{ri}(\partial R(\bar{x}))$ , we have from [55, Theorem 6.6] that v = Dw for some  $w \in \operatorname{ri}(\partial \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}(D^{\top}\bar{x}))$ . Therefore, observing that  $DP_{T_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}}D^{\top}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \in V_{\bar{x}}$  and using Lemma 5.6, we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \|x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}\| \\ & \leq \left\| B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^{+} B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}} D P_{T_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} D^{\top}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\| + \left\| P_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} D^{\top}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\| \\ & = \left\| B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^{+} B_{\bar{x}} D P_{T_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} D^{\top}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\| + \left\| P_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} D^{\top}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\| \\ & = \left\| B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^{+} B_{\bar{x}} \left( \mathrm{Id}_{n} - D P_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} D^{\top} \right) (x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\| + \left\| P_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} D^{\top}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\| \\ & \leq \left\| B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^{+} \right\| \left\| B_{\bar{x}}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\| + \left( \left\| P_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} \right\|_{\gamma_{\mathcal{C}} \to 2}^{+} + \left\| B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^{+} \right\| \left\| A\bar{x} \right\|_{\infty} \left\| AD_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} \right\|_{\gamma_{\mathcal{C}} \to 2}^{-} \right) \gamma_{\mathcal{C}} \left( P_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} D^{\top}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right) \\ & \leq \left\| B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^{+} \right\| \left\| B_{\bar{x}}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}) \right\| + \left( \left\| P_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} \right\|_{\gamma_{\mathcal{C}} \to 2}^{+} + \left\| B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^{+} \right\| \left\| A\bar{x} \right\|_{\infty} \left\| AD_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} \right\|_{\gamma_{\mathcal{C}} \to 2}^{-} \right) \frac{D_{R}^{v}(x,\bar{x})}{1 - \sigma_{\mathcal{C}} \left( w_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} \right)}, \end{split}$$

where we also used coercivity of  $\gamma_{\mathcal{C}}$ . Let

$$\alpha = \frac{\left\| \mathbf{P}_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} \right\|_{\gamma_{\mathcal{C}} \to 2} + \left\| B_{\bar{x}}^{+}_{V_{\bar{x}}} \right\| \left\| A\bar{x} \right\|_{\infty} \left\| AD_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} \right\|_{\gamma_{\mathcal{C}} \to 2}}{1 - \sigma_{\mathcal{C}} \left( w_{S_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}} \right)}.$$

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x} \right\| &\leq \left\| B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^{+} \right\| \left\| |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - A\bar{x}|^{2} + (|Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2}) \right\| + \alpha D_{R}^{v}(x,\bar{x}) \\ &\leq \left\| B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^{+} \right\| \left( \left\| A \right\|^{2} \left\| x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x} \right\|^{2} + \left\| |Ax_{y,\lambda}^{\star}|^{2} - |A\bar{x}|^{2} \right\| \right) + \alpha D_{R}^{v}(x,\bar{x}). \end{aligned}$$

Inserting the bounds in (5.5) and rearranging, we get

$$\left\|x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}\right\| \le b\sigma + a \left\|x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} - \bar{x}\right\|^{2},$$

where

$$a = \frac{\|A\|^2}{2} \left( 3 \|B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^+\| + \alpha \|q\| \right) \text{ and } b = \|B_{\bar{x}}_{V_{\bar{x}}}^+\| \left(2 + c \|q\|\right) + \alpha \frac{\left(2 + \frac{c}{2} \|q\|\right)^2}{2c}$$

By symmetry of R, it can be easily seen that  $\partial R(-\bar{x}) = -\partial R(\bar{x})$ , and thus  $T_{-D^{\top}\bar{x}} = T_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}$  and  $e_{-D^{\top}\bar{x}} = -e_{D^{\top}\bar{x}}$ . Therefore, if (NDSC)-(RI) hold at  $\bar{x}$  then so they do at  $-\bar{x}$  and vice versa. In turn, when  $-\bar{x}$  is the closest point to  $x_{u,\lambda}^{*}$ , we argue similarly as above to get

$$\left\|x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} + \bar{x}\right\| \le b\sigma + a \left\|x_{y,\lambda}^{\star} + \bar{x}\right\|^{2}.$$

Overall, we arrive at

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star},\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \leq b\sigma + a\operatorname{dist}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star},\overline{\mathcal{X}})^2.$$

Solving the above inequality, recalling that  $\operatorname{dist}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star}, \overline{\mathcal{X}})$  vanishes as  $\sigma \to 0$  thanks to Theorem 5.2, we get that if

$$\sigma \le 1/(4ab).$$

Then

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star},\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \leq \frac{1-\sqrt{1-4ab\sigma}}{2a} \leq 2b\sigma.$$

## 5.3 Convergence rate for Gaussian measurement maps

### 5.3.1 Construction of a "dual" certificate

The non-degenerate source condition (NDSC) is a geometric condition, which is not easy to check in practice and exhibiting a valid vector q is not trivial for general A. We will now describe a particular construction of a good candidate (the so-called linearized pre-certificate). Moreover, when A is a Gaussian map, we will also provide sufficient bounds on m needed for conditions (NDSC)-(RI) to hold with overwhelming probability.

In the sequel, A is a Gaussian map with i.i.d entries sampled from  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$ . From now on, we will focus on the case where  $D = \text{Id}_n$  to avoid tedious and unnecessary computations. To lighten the notation, we denote T and e the model parameters of R at  $\bar{x}$ .

Following the same notation as in the proof of Theorem 5.4, we define the vector

$$w \stackrel{ ext{def}}{=} B_{ar{x}}^{ op} rgmin_{B_{ar{x}}^{ op} q \in \operatorname{aff}(\partial R(ar{x}))} \|q\|$$
 .

This amounts to forming w by picking up a specific vector q: the one with minimal norm which is unique. If  $B_{\bar{x}}$  is injective on T (which is equivalent to (**RI**) as  $D = \text{Id}_n$ ), it can be shown, using the definition of the model subspace T, that w can be equivalently expressed in closed form as (see *e.g.* [67])

$$w = B_{\bar{x}}^{\top} q$$
 where  $q \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} B_{\bar{x}T}^{+,\top} e$  and  $B_{\bar{x}T}^{+} = \left( B_{\bar{x}T}^{\top} B_{\bar{x}T} \right)^{-1} B_{\bar{x}T}^{\top}$ .

In view of (5.6), verifying (NDSC) amounts to ensuring that

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(w_S) < 1$$

This is our goal in the rest of the paper where we will provide sample complexity bounds under which one can ensure that this holds with high probability for Gaussian maps.

Our approach is inspired by that of [20]. The key ingredient is the fact that, owing to the isotropy of the Gaussian ensemble, the actions on T and S are independent. However, unlike the linear case, in the phase retrieval problem, there is a major issue since  $B_{\bar{x}}$ , hence the the multiplier q, depends on  $A\bar{x}$  and there on T and S. This difficulty can alleviated if the regularizer is such that  $\bar{x} \in T$ . This turns out that many important cases including the Lasso, group Lasso penalties, their ordered weighted versions [10], and many others.

From now on, we assume that  $\bar{x} \in T$ . We can then write

$$B_{\bar{x}} = \operatorname{diag}(|A_T \bar{x}|)A,$$

and thus

$$w = A^{\top} \eta$$
 where  $\eta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{diag}(|A_T \bar{x}|^2) A_T \left( A_T^{\top} \operatorname{diag}(|A_T \bar{x}|^2) A_T \right)^{-1} e$ 

Clearly, isotropy of the Gaussian ensemble entails that  $\eta$  and  $A_S$  are independent, which allows us, given the value of  $\eta$ , to infer the distribution of  $A_S^{\top} \eta$  with no knowledge of the values of  $A_T$ . Thus, for some  $\tau > 0$  and  $\kappa \le 1$ , we need to bound

$$\Pr\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(w_S) \ge \kappa\right) = \Pr\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(A_S^{\top}\eta) \ge \kappa\right) \le \Pr\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(w_S) \ge \kappa \middle| \|\eta\| \le \tau\right) + \Pr\left(\|\eta\| \ge \tau\right).$$
(5.7)

The first term in this inequality will be bounded on a case-by-case basis (see the following sections) and uses the fact that conditionally on  $\eta$ , the entries of  $w = A^{\top} \eta$  are *i.i.d*  $\mathcal{N}(0, ||\eta||^2 / m)$ .

Let us first consider the second term. We have the following.

**Lemma 5.7.** Let  $\rho \in ]0, 1[$ . If  $m \ge C(\rho) \dim(T) \log(m)$ , on the same event we have that  $B_{\bar{x}}$  is injective on T, i.e.(**RI**) holds, that

$$\|\eta\| < \frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho} \|e\|, \qquad (5.8)$$

and that

$$||q|| < \frac{||e||}{1-\varrho} \frac{\sqrt{m}}{||\bar{x}||},$$
(5.9)

with a probability at least  $1 - \frac{6}{m^2} - e^{-\delta^2/2}$ .

We refer to Section A.1 for the proof. The last term of the probability can be made decreasing with m with a stringent upper-bounds on  $\eta$  and q. This is precisely the aim of the second statement of Lemma B.3.

#### 5.3.2 Bound for a symmetric strong gauge of a polytope

We now consider R to be symmetric strong gauge of a polytope, *i.e.*  $R = \gamma_{\mathcal{C}}$  where  $\mathcal{C}$  is a polytope containing the origin as an interior point and  $e_{\bar{x}} \in \operatorname{ri}(\partial R(\bar{x}))$  (see Definition 3.11). We use the shorthand notation  $\mathcal{V}_S$  for the set of vertices of  $P_S \mathcal{C}$ .

**Lemma 5.8.** Let  $\kappa \in ]0,1[$ ,  $\varrho > 0$  small enough and  $\delta > 0$ . Let us define  $\beta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho} \frac{\|e\| \max_{v \in \mathcal{V}_S} \|v\|}{\kappa}$ . Assume that the number of samples m is such that

$$m \ge \max\left(C(\varrho)\dim(T)\log(m), 2\beta^2(1+\zeta)\log(|\mathcal{V}_S|)\right)$$

for some  $\zeta > 0$ . Then with probability at least  $1 - |\mathcal{V}_S|^{-\zeta} - \frac{6}{m^2} - e^{-\frac{\delta^2}{2}}$ , (NDSC) and (RI) hold, and in particular

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(w_S) < \kappa$$

The proof is in Section A.2.

Let us now instantiate Lemma 5.8 and Theorem 5.4 for some popular regularizers.

**Example: Lasso** Denote  $I = \operatorname{supp}(\bar{x})$ . For the  $\ell_1$ -norm, we have  $\sigma_{\mathcal{C}} = \|\cdot\|_{\infty}$  and  $\|e\|^2 = \dim(T) = s = |I|$ . Moreover,  $\mathcal{V}$  is formed by  $(\pm a_i)_{i \in [n]}$ , where  $a_i$  are the vectors of the standard basis. Thus

$$|\mathcal{V}_S| = 2(n-s) \le 2n$$
,  $\max_{v \in \mathcal{V}_S} ||v|| = 1$  and  $\beta = \frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho} \frac{\sqrt{s}}{\kappa}$ .

According to Lemma 5.8, taking

$$m \ge \max\left(C(\varrho)s\log(m), 2\kappa^{-2}\left(\frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho}\right)^2 (1+\zeta)s\log(2n)\right)$$
(5.10)

we have

 $B_{\bar{x}I}$  is injective and  $\|w_S\|_{\infty} < \kappa$ 

with probability at least  $1 - (2n)^{-\zeta} - \frac{6}{m^2} - e^{-\frac{\delta^2}{2}}$ . Thus  $m \gtrsim s \log(n)$  measurements are sufficient for (NDSC) and (RI) to hold when  $\bar{x}$  is s-sparse. In turn, the error bound Theorem 5.4 holds. We need to estimate the constant in that bound. According to the proof of Theorem 5.4, this constant is 2b where

$$b = \left\| B_{\bar{x}_{T}^{+}} \right\| \left( 2 + c \left\| q \right\| \right) + \alpha \frac{\left( 2 + \frac{c}{2} \left\| q \right\| \right)^{2}}{2c} \quad \text{with} \quad \alpha = \frac{\left\| \mathbf{P}_{S} \right\|_{1 \to 2} + \left\| B_{\bar{x}_{T}^{+}} \right\| \left\| A\bar{x} \right\|_{\infty} \left\| A_{S} \right\|_{1 \to 2}}{1 - \sigma_{\mathcal{C}} \left( w_{S} \right)}$$

We have just shown that

$$\frac{1}{1 - \left\| w_S \right\|_{\infty}} \le \frac{1}{1 - \kappa}$$

with high probability when m verifies the bound (5.10). On this same event, we also have (see Lemma B.3, Lemma 5.7 and its proof),

$$||A_T \bar{x}||_{\infty} \le \frac{1+\delta}{\sqrt{m}} ||\bar{x}||, \quad ||B_{\bar{x}_T}^+|| \le \frac{\sqrt{m}}{(1-\varrho) ||\bar{x}||} \text{ and } ||q|| < \frac{\sqrt{sm}}{(1-\varrho) ||\bar{x}||}.$$
 (5.11)

To complete our analysis, we need to bound  $\|P_S\|_{1\to 2}$  and  $\|A_S\|_{1\to 2}$ .

Obviously

$$\|\mathbf{P}_S\|_{1\to 2} = \sup_x \frac{\|x_{I^c}\|}{\|x_{I^c}\|_1} = 1.$$

In addition, we have for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ 

$$\frac{\left\|\sum_{i\in I^c} A_i x[i]\right\|}{\left\|x_{I^c}\right\|_1} \le \max_{i\in I^c} \left\|A_i\right\| \frac{\sum_{i\in I^c} |x[i]|}{\left\|x_{I^c}\right\|_1} = \max_{i\in I^c} \left\|A_i\right\|,$$

whence we get the upper bound

$$||A_S||_{1\to 2} \le \max_{i\in I^c} ||A_i||.$$

By a union bound and Proposition 2.10, it is immediate to show that

$$\max_{i \in I^c} \|A_i\| \le 1 + \sqrt{\frac{2t \log(n)}{m}}, \text{ for some } t > 1,$$

with probability at least  $1 - n^{1-t}$ .

We now proceed to state our estimation error bound for the Lasso. Replacing all the terms in b by their estimates, and plugging into Theorem 5.4, we get the following.

**Proposition 5.9.** Let  $\kappa \in ]0, 1[$ ,  $\varrho > 0$  small enough,  $\delta > 0$  and t > 1. Consider the noisy phaseless measurements in (GeneralPR) where  $\bar{x}$  is s-sparse and  $\sigma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} ||\epsilon||$  is small enough. Consider problem  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  where R is the  $\ell_1$ -norm and  $\lambda = c\sigma$  for c > 0. If A is a Gaussian map with i.i.d entries from  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  with m verifying (5.10), then with probability at least  $1 - n^{1-t} - (2n)^{-\zeta} - \frac{6}{m^2} - e^{-\frac{\delta^2}{2}}$ , any minimizer  $x_{y,\lambda}^*$  of  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  satisfies

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star},\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \leq \left(\frac{2\sqrt{m}}{(1-\varrho)\|\bar{x}\|} \left(2 + c\frac{\sqrt{sm}}{(1-\varrho)\|\bar{x}\|}\right) + \frac{1 + \frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho} \left(1 + \sqrt{\frac{2t\log(n)}{m}}\right)}{1-\kappa} \frac{\left(2 + \frac{c}{2}\frac{\sqrt{sm}}{(1-\varrho)\|\bar{x}\|}\right)^2}{2c}\right) \sigma. \quad (5.12)$$

The performance guarantee (5.12) has an alternative form in terms of the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). The latter is captured for the model (GeneralPR) by

$$\operatorname{SNR} \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \frac{\|A\bar{x}\|_4^4}{\|\epsilon\|^2} \approx \frac{3\|\bar{x}\|^4}{m\sigma^2},$$

where we used that A has i.i.d  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries. We then have the bound

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star},\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \lesssim \frac{\|\bar{x}\|}{\sqrt{\operatorname{SNR}}} \left( \left(1 + \frac{\sqrt{s}}{m^{-1/2} \|\bar{x}\|}\right) + \left(1 + \left(1 + \frac{\sqrt{s}}{m^{-1/2} \|\bar{x}\|}\right)^2\right) m^{-1/2} \|\bar{x}\| \right)$$

revealing the stability of minimizers of  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  as a function of SNR.

#### 5.3.3 Bound for the group Lasso

Recall the group Lasso penalty (Section 3.4) with L blocks of equal size B. Let  $I = \operatorname{supp}_{\mathcal{B}}(\bar{x})$ . For the  $\ell_1 - \ell_2$ -norm, we have  $\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(x) = \max_{i \in I} ||x[b_i]||$  and,  $||e||^2 = s$  where s = |I| is the number of active blocks in  $\bar{x}$ . Let  $\Lambda = \bigcup_{i \in I} b_i$ , and  $\Lambda^c$  its complement. We then have  $\dim(T) = |\Lambda| = sB$ .

**Lemma 5.10.** Let  $\kappa \in ]0,1[$ ,  $\varrho > 0$  small enough and  $\delta > 0$ . Assume that the number of samples m is such that

$$m \ge \max\left(C(\varrho)sB\log(m), 2\kappa^{-2}(1+\zeta)\frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho}s\left(\sqrt{\log(L)}+\sqrt{B}\right)^2\right)$$
(5.13)

form some  $\zeta > 0$ . Then with probability at least  $1 - L^{-\zeta} - \frac{6}{m^2} - e^{-\frac{\delta^2}{2}}$ , (NDSC) and (RI) hold, and in particular

$$\max_{i\in I} \|w[b_i]\| < \kappa.$$

The proof is in Section A.3.

Thus  $m \gtrsim s \left( \left( \sqrt{\log(L)} + \sqrt{B} \right)^2 + B \log(m) \right)$  measurements are sufficient for (NDSC) and (RI) to hold for the group Lasso when  $\bar{x}$  is *s*-group sparse. Therefore, the error bound in Theorem 5.4 holds. We now estimate the corresponding constant 2b as above. By the triangle inequality, we can upper-bound

$$\frac{\|x[\Lambda^c]\|}{\|x[\Lambda^c]\|_{1,2}} \le \frac{\sum_{i \in I^c} \|x[b_i]\|}{\sum_{i \in I^c} \|x[b_i]\|} = 1,$$

and thus

$$\|\mathbf{P}_S\|_{(1,2)\to 2} = \sup_x \frac{\|x[\Lambda^c]\|}{\|x[\Lambda^c]\|_{1,2}} = 1.$$

Moreover, for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ 

$$\frac{\left\|\sum_{i\in I^c} A_{b_i} x[b_i]\right\|}{\sum_{i\in I^c} \|x[b_i]\|} \le \frac{\sum_{i\in I^c} \|A_{b_i}\| \|x[b_i]\|}{\sum_{i\in I^c} \|x[b_i]\|} \le \max_{i\in I^c} \|A_{b_i}\|.$$

This yields

$$||A_S||_{1,2\to 2} = ||A_{\Lambda^c}||_{(1,2)\to 2} \le \max_{i\in I^c} ||A_{b_i}||.$$

Invoking standard concentration inequalities of the largest singular value of  $A_{b_i}$  and a union bound, we get

$$\max_{i \in I^c} \|A_{b_i}\| \le 1 + \sqrt{B/m} + \sqrt{2t \log(L)/m}, \text{ for some } t > 1,$$

with probability at least  $1-L^{1-t}$ . The bounds in (5.11) are also valid for the group Lasso under our sample complexity bound. Combining this discussion with Theorem 5.4 and Lemma 5.10, we have proved the following.

**Proposition 5.11.** Let  $\kappa \in ]0, 1[$ ,  $\varrho > 0$  small enough,  $\delta > 0$  and t > 1. Consider the noisy phaseless measurements in (GeneralPR) where  $\bar{x}$  is s-group sparse and  $\sigma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} ||\epsilon||$  is small enough. Consider problem  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  where R is the  $\ell_1 - \ell_2$  norm and  $\lambda = c\sigma$  for c > 0. If A is a Gaussian map with i.i.d entries from  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  with m verifying (5.13), then with probability at least  $1 - L^{1-t} - L^{-\zeta} - \frac{6}{m^2} - e^{-\frac{\delta^2}{2}}$ , any minimizer  $x_{y,\lambda}^*$  of  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  satisfies

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_{y,\lambda}^{\star},\overline{\mathcal{X}}) \leq \left(\frac{2\sqrt{m}}{(1-\varrho)\|\bar{x}\|} \left(2 + c\frac{\sqrt{sm}}{(1-\varrho)\|\bar{x}\|}\right) + \frac{1 + \frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho} \left(1 + \sqrt{B/m} + \sqrt{2t\log(L)/m}\right) \left(2 + \frac{c}{2}\frac{\sqrt{sm}}{(1-\varrho)\|\bar{x}\|}\right)^2}{1-\kappa} \sigma. \quad (5.14)$$

One can get also get an alternative form of the bound terms of the SNR exactly as we did for the Lasso. We leave the details to the reader.

## 6 Numerical Experiments

In this section, we discuss some numerical experiments to give give a gist of our results. For this, we will use a Bregman proximal gradient (BPG) algorithm, to be described shortly, to solve  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$ . However, we would like to stress the fact that our results are on the minimizers of  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  and not on the outcome of BPG. In particular, BPG is guaranteed to converge to a critical point of  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  in general. But it is still an open problem whether m as large as devised by our bounds, typically scaling linearly in the intrinsic dimension of  $\bar{x}$ , is sufficient for BPG to provably converge to a global minimizer (which is known by our results to be close to  $\pm \bar{x}$  for small noise). In fact, our numerical experiments suggest that more measurements are actually needed for BPG without a particular initialization to stably recover  $\pm \bar{x}$  from small noise.

#### 6.1 Bregman Proximal Gradient

Let us recall that in  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$ , the smooth part (that we denote f) in the objective F is semi-algebraic  $C^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , but is non-convex (though it is weakly convex). Besides, its gradient is not Lipschitz continuous. Therefore, we associate to the smooth part f the kernel function in (1.1).  $\psi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  has full domain and 1-strongly convex function with a gradient that is Lipschitz over bounded subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Moreover, f is smooth relative to  $\psi$  [11], *i.e.* 

$$\exists L > 0 \text{ such that } D_f(x, z) \le L D_{\psi}(x, z), \forall x, z \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(6.1)

The constant *L* can be computed explicitly and sharp estimates were proposed in [30] in the oversampling regime. Problem ( $\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda}$ ) is amenable to the Bregman Proximal Gradient (BPG) as proposed in [11] and further studied for the phase retrieval without regularization in [30, 29]. Its main steps are summarized in Algorithm 1.

Algorithm 1: Bregman Proximal Gradient					
Initialization: $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ;					
for $k = 0, 1, \dots$ do					
$x_{k+1} = (\nabla \psi + \gamma \lambda \partial R)^{-1} (\nabla \psi(x_k) - \gamma \nabla F(x_k)),  \gamma < \frac{1}{L};$	(BPG)				

Since the regularizer R in  $(\mathscr{P}_{y,\lambda})$  is proper, lsc and convex, the operator  $(\nabla \psi + \gamma \lambda \partial R)^{-1}$ , which is nothing but the Bregman proximal operator, is non-empty and single-valued over the whole space.

#### 6.2 Results

Throughout our experiments, A is drawn from the Gaussian ensemble with i.i.d  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$  entries. We take n = 128 and we run Algorithm 1 with a constant step-size  $\gamma = \frac{0.99}{3+10^{-4}}$ . For R, we have tested several regularizers as described hereafter.

**Example 6.1 (Lasso).** For the  $\ell_1$  norm, the Bregman proximal mapping with our entropy  $\psi$  has a nice formula [11, Proposition 5.1]. The underlying vector  $\bar{x}$  is taken to be sparse with s = 12 non-zeros entries. The number of quadratic measurements is taken as  $m = 0.5 \times s^{1.5} \times \log(n)$ , which grows larger than linear with s. As there is no noise in this experiment, we took  $\lambda = 10^{-8}$ . Figure 1 shows the recovery results. The left plot of Figure 1 displays the relative error of the iterates vs the number of iterations. On the right plot, we display the cardinality of the support of the iterates. Clearly, the left plot shows that Algorithm 1 identifies the correct support after 300 iterations and converges to  $\pm \bar{x}$ .

The left plot of Figure 2 depicts the evolution of the estimation error for the Lasso phase retrieval as a function of the noise level  $\sigma$  (small). For each value of  $\sigma$ , we choose  $\lambda = 3\sigma$ . As expected, the error scales linearly with the noise.

**Example 6.2 (Group Lasso).** Here, we take R as the group/block Lasso which is designed to promote group sparsity. By extending the result of [11, Proposition 5.1], using the specific structure of the  $\ell_1 - \ell_2$  norm, the Bregman proximal mapping with our entropy  $\psi$  in this case turns out also to have a closed formula. In our experiment, we consider  $\bar{x}$  to have 2 non-zero blocks of size B = 8 each. The number of quadratic measurements is  $m = 0.5 \times (2 \times 8)^2 \times \log(128)$ . We also take  $\lambda = 10^{-8}$  as no noise was added in this experiment. The results are shown in Figure 3, and they are consistent with the discussion for the  $\ell_1$ -norm.

**Example 6.3 (TV regularizer).** In this experiment, the original vector  $\bar{x}$  is piecewise constant with s = 12 randomly placed jumps. The number of measurements is  $m = 0.5 \times s^2 \times \log(n)$ . The regularizer is the total variation (TV). However the Bregman proximal mapping of TV does not have an explicit



Figure 1: Phase retrieval with the Lasso  $(\ell_1 - \text{norm})$  regularizer.



Figure 2: Stable phase retrieval with the Lasso (left) and TV (right).

expression. Therefore, we used an inner iteration to compute it using an accelerated proximal gradient algorithm on the dual [24]. The results are depicted in Figure 4. The left plot shows the original (dashed line) and the recovered vector (solid line). The right plot shows the evolution of the relative error vs iterations.

The right plot of Figure 2 depicts the evolution of the estimation error for the TV phase retrieval as a function of the noise level  $\sigma$ . We choose  $\lambda = 3\sigma$ . One again sees that the error scales linearly with the noise.

Example 6.4. (Wavelet synthesis-type prior). We here cast the phase retrieval problem as

$$\min_{v \in \mathbb{R}^p} \frac{1}{4m} \left\| y - |AWv|^2 \right\|^2 + \lambda \left\| v \right\|_1, \quad \lambda > 0,$$
(6.2)

where W is a wavelet synthesis operator. The reconstructed vector is given by x = Wv. When W is orthonormal, this is equivalent to the analysis-type formulation with  $D = W^{\top}$ . This is not anymore the case when W is redundant.

In this experiment, we will use the shift-invariant wavelet dictionary with the Haar wavelet, which is closely related to the TV regularizer for 1D signals; see [62]. We take the same number of jumps and measurements as in the previous example. The results are shown in Figure 5.



Figure 3: Phase retrieval with the group Lasso ( $\ell_1 - \ell_2$  norm) regularizer.

# Appendices

## A Proofs for Section 5.3

## A.1 Proof of Lemma 5.7

We have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\eta\| &= \left\| \operatorname{diag}(|A_T \bar{x}|) B_{\bar{x}_T}^{+,\top} e \right\| \\ &\leq \|A_T \bar{x}\|_{\infty} \left\| B_{\bar{x}_T}^{+} \right\| \|e\| \\ &= \|A_T \bar{x}\|_{\infty} \lambda_{\min} \left( B_{\bar{x}_T}^{\top} B_{\bar{x}_T} \right)^{-1/2} \|e\| \\ &= \|A_T \bar{x}\|_{\infty} \lambda_{\min} \left( A_T^{\top} \operatorname{diag}(|A_T \bar{x}|^2) A_T \right)^{-1/2} \|e\| . \end{aligned}$$

By Lemma B.3, we have

$$\left\|A_T \bar{x}\right\|_{\infty} \le \frac{1+\delta}{\sqrt{m}} \left\|\bar{x}\right\|$$

with probability at least  $1 - e^{-\frac{\delta^2}{2}}$ . Observe also that

$$A_T^{\top} \text{diag}(|A_T \bar{x}|^2) A_T = \sum_{r=1}^m |\langle (a_r)_T, \bar{x} \rangle|^2 (a_r)_T (a_r)_T^{\top}.$$

It then follows from Lemma B.4 that

$$\lambda_{\min}\left(A_T^{\top} \operatorname{diag}(|A_T\bar{x}|^2)A_T\right) \ge \frac{1-\varrho}{m} \|\bar{x}\|^2 \ge \frac{(1-\varrho)^2}{m} \|\bar{x}\|^2$$

with probability at least  $1 - \frac{6}{m^2}$  as soon as  $m \ge C(\varrho) \dim(T) \log(m)$ . Thus,

$$\Pr\left(\|\eta\| \ge \frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho} \,\|e\|\right) \le \frac{6}{m^2} + e^{-\frac{\delta^2}{2}}.$$



Figure 4: Phase retrieval with the TV semi-norm.

Since  $q = B_{\bar{x}_T}^{+,\top} e$ , we have

$$||q|| \le ||B_{\bar{x}_T}^+|| \, ||e|| \, .$$

We then argue similarly to above by invoking again Lemma B.4.

## A.2 Proof of Lemma 5.8

Let us first observe that  $\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(A_S^{\top}\eta) = \max_{v \in \mathcal{C}} \langle A_S^{\top}\eta, v \rangle$ . Therefore

$$\Pr\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(A_{S}^{\top}\eta) \geq \kappa \middle| \|\eta\| \leq \tau\right) = \Pr\left(\max_{v \in \mathcal{C}} \left\langle A_{S}^{\top}\eta, v \right\rangle \geq \kappa \middle| \|\eta\| \leq \tau\right),$$
$$= \Pr\left(\max_{v \in \mathcal{V}_{S}} \left\langle A^{\top}\eta, v \right\rangle \geq \kappa \middle| \|\eta\| \leq \tau\right),$$
$$\leq |\mathcal{V}_{S}| \max_{v \in \mathcal{V}_{S}} \Pr\left(\left\langle Z\eta, v \right\rangle \geq \kappa \sqrt{m} \middle| \|\eta\| \leq \tau\right)$$

where  $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$  is drawn from the standard Gaussian ensemble. Let us observe that  $Z \mapsto \langle Z\eta, v \rangle$  is a Lipschitz continuous function of constant  $\|\eta\| \|v\| \le \tau$ . Using Proposition 2.10, we get

$$\Pr\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(A_{S}^{\top}\eta) \geq \kappa \middle| \|\eta\| \leq \tau\right) \leq |\mathcal{V}_{S}| \max_{v \in \mathcal{V}_{S}} e^{-\frac{m\kappa^{2}}{2\tau^{2} \|v\|^{2}}},$$
$$\leq |\mathcal{V}_{S}| e^{-\frac{m\kappa^{2}}{2\tau^{2} \max_{v \in \mathcal{V}_{S}} \|v\|^{2}}},$$
$$= e^{-\frac{m\kappa^{2}}{2\tau^{2} \max_{v \in \mathcal{V}_{S}} \|v\|^{2}} + \log(|\mathcal{V}_{S}|)}$$

In view of Lemma 5.7, we set  $\tau = \frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho} ||e||$ , and we get the claim using (5.7) with the devised value of  $\beta$  and the bound on m.



Figure 5: Phase retrieval with the wavelet-synthesis prior formulation.

## A.3 Proof of Lemma 5.10

We use a union bound to get

$$\Pr\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(A_{S}^{\top}\eta) \geq \kappa \Big| \|\eta\| \leq \tau\right) = \Pr\left(\max_{i \in I^{c}} \left\|A_{b_{i}}^{\top}\eta\right\|_{2} \geq \kappa \Big| \|\eta\| \leq \tau\right)$$
$$\leq (L-s)\max_{i \in I^{c}}\Pr\left(\left\|A_{b_{i}}^{\top}\eta\right\| \geq \kappa \Big| \|\eta\| \leq \tau\right).$$

We now argue as in [20] observing that conditioned on  $\eta$ ,  $\frac{m}{\|\eta\|^2} \|A_{b_i}^\top \eta\|^2 = \frac{m}{\|\eta\|^2} \|w[b_i]\|^2$  are identically distributed as a  $\chi$ -squared random variable with B degrees of freedom. By concentration of the latter, we have for any t > 0

$$\Pr\left(\frac{\sqrt{m}}{\|\eta\|} \left\| A_{b_i}^{\top} \eta \right\| \ge \frac{\sqrt{m}}{\|\eta\|} \mathbb{E}\left( \left\| A_{b_i}^{\top} \eta \right\| \right) + t \left\| \eta \right\| \le \tau \right) = \Pr\left(\frac{\sqrt{m}}{\|\eta\|} \left\| A_{b_i}^{\top} \eta \right\| \ge \sqrt{B} + t \left\| \eta \right\| \le \tau \right) \le e^{-t^2/2}$$
  
Therefore

$$\Pr\left(\sigma_{\mathcal{C}}(A_{S}^{\top}\eta) \geq \kappa \Big| \, \|\eta\| \leq \tau\right) \leq L \exp\left(-\left(\sqrt{m}\kappa/\tau - \sqrt{B}\right)^{2}/2\right).$$

In view of Lemma 5.7, we set  $\tau = \frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho} ||e|| = \frac{1+\delta}{1-\varrho} \sqrt{s}$ . Plugging this and the last inequality in (5.7), and the devised bound on *m*, we get the claim.

#### **Concentration inequalities** B

We start recalling two standard concentration inequalities. For a random variable X and  $k \ge 1$ , we define

$$||X||_{\psi_k} = \sup_{p \ge 1} p^{-1/k} (\mathbb{E}(|X|^p))^{1/p}.$$

 $\|X\|_{\psi_2}$  is known as the sub-Gaussian norm while  $\|X\|_{\psi_1}$  is the sub-exponential norm.

**Proposition B.1 (Hoeffding-type inequality).** Let  $X = (X_1, \dots, X_N)$  be independent centred sub-Gaussian random variables, and let  $K = \max_i ||X_i||_{\psi_2}$ . Then for every vector  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $t \ge 0$ , we have

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\left|\left\langle a, X\right\rangle\right| \ge t\right) \le e. \exp\left(-\frac{ct^2}{K^2 \left\|a\right\|^2}\right),$$

where c > 0 is an absolute constant.

**Proposition B.2 (Bernstein-type inequality).** Let  $X_1, \dots, X_N$  be independent centered sub-exponential random variables, and let  $K = \max_i ||X_i||_{\psi_1}$ . Then for every vector  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $t \ge 0$ , we have

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\left|\left\langle a,X\right\rangle\right| \ge t\right) \le e.\exp\left\{-c\min\left(\frac{t^2}{K^2 \left\|a\right\|^2}, \frac{t}{K \left\|a\right\|_{\infty}}\right)\right\},\$$

where c > 0 is an absolute constant.

**Lemma B.3.** Fix  $\delta > 0$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . We have,

(i)

$$\left\|Ax\right\|_{\infty} \le \frac{1+\delta}{\sqrt{m}} \left\|x\right\|. \tag{B.1}$$

This happens with probability at least  $1 - e^{\frac{-\delta^2}{2}}$ .

(ii) Moreover

$$||Ax||_{\infty} \le \sqrt{(1+\delta)\frac{2\log(m)}{m}} ||x||.$$
 (B.2)

with probability at least  $1 - m^{-\delta}$ .

**Proof.** To show (i), observe that  $||Ax||_{\infty} \leq ||Ax||$  and then use Proposition 2.10 since  $A \mapsto ||Ax||$  is ||x||-Lipschitz continuous and  $\mathbb{E}(||Ax||) \leq ||x|| / \sqrt{m}$ . For the second claim, we use a more direct and standard argument. We have by the union bound and the tail bound for a standard Gaussian random variable that

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\|Ax\|_{\infty} \ge \sqrt{(1+\delta)\frac{2\log(m)}{m}} \|x\|\right) \le m\mathbb{P}\left(|Z| \ge \sqrt{2(1+\delta)\log(m)}\right), \qquad Z \sim \mathcal{N}(0,1)$$
$$\le me^{-(1+\delta)\log(m)} = m^{-\delta}.$$

Let us consider the model linear subspace  $T \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ , and denote  $d = \dim(T)$ . Throughout this section, we will see T as  $\mathbb{R}^d$  since there exists an isometry from  $\mathbb{R}^d$  onto T. In turn,  $A_T$  can be viewed as a  $m \times d$  matrix whose entries are *i.i.d*  $\mathcal{N}(0, 1/m)$ . We have the following concentrations.

**Lemma B.4.** Fix  $\rho \in ]0,1[$  (small enough) and choose  $0 < \bar{\rho} < \frac{\rho+3}{10 \log(m)}$ .

(i) If the number of samples obeys  $m \ge C(\varrho) d \log(d)$ , for some sufficiently large  $C(\varrho) > 0$ , we have

$$\left\| m A_T^{\mathsf{T}} \operatorname{diag}(|A_T \bar{x}|^2) A_T - \left( 2 \bar{x} \bar{x}^{\mathsf{T}} + \| \bar{x} \|^2 \operatorname{Id} \right) \right\| \le \varrho \| \bar{x} \|^2.$$
(B.3)

with a probability at least  $1 - 5e^{-\zeta d} - \frac{4}{d^2}$  where  $\zeta$  is a fixed numerical constant.

(ii) If the number of samples obeys  $m \ge \tilde{C}(\bar{\varrho}, \varrho) d\log(m)$ , for some sufficiently large  $C(\bar{\varrho}, \varrho) > 0$ , (B.3) holds true with a probability at least  $1 - \frac{6}{m^2}$ . **Proof.** The proof of claim (i) is just an application of [30, Lemma B.2] to  $A_T$ .

For the proof of claim (ii), we have to modify the choice of m in the different concentrations used in the proof of [30, Lemma B.2]. We provide here a self-contained proof. We have to emphasize that showing (B.3) is similar to showing that

$$\left\|\frac{1}{m}\sum_{r=1}^{m}|\bar{a}_{r}[1]|^{2}\bar{a}_{r}\bar{a}_{r}^{\top}-\left(2e_{1}e_{1}^{\top}+\mathrm{Id}\right)\right\|\leq\varrho,\tag{B.4}$$

where the entries of  $\bar{a}_r$  are now standard Gaussian random variable and  $e_1$  is a vector of the standard basis.

From symmetry arguments, showing (B.4) amounts to proving that

$$V(v) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \left| \frac{1}{m} \sum_{r=1}^{m} |\bar{a}_r[1]|^2 |\bar{a}_r^{\top} v|^2 - \left(1 + 2v[1]^2\right) \right| \le \varrho$$

for all  $v \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ . The rest of the proof shows this claim.

Let  $\widetilde{a}_r = (\overline{a}_r[2], \dots, \overline{a}_r[d])$  and  $\widetilde{v} = (v[2], \dots, v[d])$ . We rewrite

$$|\bar{a}_r^{\mathsf{T}}v|^2 = \left(\bar{a}_r[1]v[1] + \tilde{a}_r^{\mathsf{T}}\tilde{v}\right)^2 = (\bar{a}_r[1]v[1])^2 + \left(\tilde{a}_r^{\mathsf{T}}\tilde{v}\right)^2 + 2\bar{a}_r[1]v[1]\tilde{a}_r^{\mathsf{T}}\tilde{v}.$$

We plug this decomposition into V(v) to get

$$V(v) \leq \left| \frac{1}{m} \sum_{r=1}^{m} \bar{a}_{r}[1]^{4} - 3 \right| v[1]^{2} + \left| \frac{1}{m} \sum_{r=1}^{m} \bar{a}_{r}[1]^{2} - 1 \right| \|\widetilde{v}\|^{2} + 2 \left| \frac{1}{m} \sum_{r=1}^{m} |\bar{a}_{r}[1]|^{3} v[1] \widetilde{a}_{r}^{\top} \widetilde{v} \right| \\ + \left| \frac{1}{m} \sum_{r=1}^{m} \bar{a}_{r}[1]^{2} \left( \widetilde{a}_{r}^{\top} \widetilde{v} - \|\widetilde{v}\|^{2} \right) \right|.$$

If  $X \sim \mathcal{N}(0,1)$  we have  $\mathbb{E}(X^{2p}) = \frac{(2p)!}{2^p p!}$  for  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ , and in particular  $\mathbb{E}(X^2) = 1$  and  $\mathbb{E}(X^4) = 3$ . By the Tchebyshev's inequality and a union bound argument,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , and a constant  $C(\varepsilon) \approx \max\left(26, \frac{96}{\varepsilon^2}\right)$  such that when  $m \ge C(\varepsilon)$  we have,

$$\frac{1}{m}\sum_{r=1}^{m} \left(\bar{a}_r[1]^4 - 3\right) < \varepsilon, \quad \frac{1}{m}\sum_{r=1}^{m} \left(\bar{a}_r[1]^2 - 1\right) < \varepsilon, \quad \frac{1}{m}\sum_{r=1}^{m} \bar{a}_r[1]^6 \le 20$$
  
and 
$$\max_{1 \le r \le m} |\bar{a}_r[1]| \le \sqrt{10\log m}.$$

Each of these events happens with probability at least  $1 - \frac{1}{m^2}$ , and thus their intersection occurs with probability at least  $1 - \frac{4}{m^2}$ . On this intersection event, we have

$$V(v) \le \varepsilon + 2 \left| \frac{1}{m} \sum_{r=1}^{m} \bar{a}_r [1]^3 v [1] \widetilde{a}_r^\top \widetilde{v} \right| + \left| \frac{1}{m} \sum_{r=1}^{m} \bar{a}_r [1]^2 \left( \widetilde{a}_r^\top \widetilde{v} - \|\widetilde{v}\|^2 \right) \right|.$$

On the one hand, by Proposition B.1, we have

$$\forall \varrho' > 0, \quad \left| \frac{1}{m} \sum_{r=1}^m \bar{a}_r [1]^3 v[1] \widetilde{a}_r^\top \widetilde{v} \right| < \varrho' |v[1]| \, \|\widetilde{v}\|^2 \,,$$

with a probability

$$p \ge 1 - e \exp\left(-\frac{c\varrho'^2 m^2}{d\sum_{r=1}^m a_r[1]^6}\right) \ge 1 - e \exp\left(-\frac{c\varrho'^2 m}{20d}\right) \ge 1 - \exp\left(-\frac{2Cm}{d}\right),$$

where C is a constant that is large enough. When  $m \ge \frac{1}{C}d\log(m)$  we get the bound with probability  $p \ge 1 - \frac{1}{m^2}$ . On the other hand, by Proposition B.2, we have

$$\forall \bar{\varrho} > 0, \quad \left| \frac{1}{m} \sum_{r=1}^{m} \bar{a}_r [1]^2 \left( \tilde{a}_r^\top \tilde{v} - \| \tilde{v} \|^2 \right) \right| \le \bar{\varrho} \| \tilde{v} \|^2,$$

with probability

$$p' \ge 1 - \exp\left\{-\min\left(\frac{\bar{\varrho}^2 m^2}{d\sum_{r=1}^m a_r[1]^4}, \frac{\bar{\varrho}m}{d\max_{1\le r\le m} a_r[1]^2}\right)\right\},\\ \ge 1 - \exp\left\{-\min\left(\frac{\bar{\varrho}^2 m}{d(\varepsilon+3)}, \frac{\bar{\varrho}m}{10d\log(m)}\right)\right\},$$

For  $\bar{\varrho} < \frac{\varepsilon+3}{10\log(m)}$ , we get that  $p' \ge 1 - \exp\left(-\frac{\bar{\varrho}^2 m}{d(\varepsilon+3)}\right) \ge 1 - \exp\left(-\frac{2C'm}{d}\right)$  for C' large enough. Thus, taking again  $m \ge \frac{1}{C'} d\log(m)$  we get the bound with probability  $p' \ge 1 - \frac{1}{m^2}$ . Overall, for any  $v \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1} \cap T$ , we have with probability at least  $1 - \frac{6}{m^2}$ 

$$V(v) \le \varepsilon + \varrho' + 2\bar{\varrho}.$$

We conclude with a covering type argument which can be plugged into the sublinear term and we choose  $m \ge C(\varrho, \bar{\varrho}) d \log(m)$  and observe that  $\log(m) \ge \log(d)$ . Therefore, choosing  $\varrho = \varepsilon + \varrho' + 2\bar{\varrho}$ , we get the claim.

Acknowledgments. The authors thank the French National Research Agency (ANR) for funding the project FIRST (ANR-19-CE42-0009).

## References

- [1] M. AkÃSakaya and V. Tarokh. New conditions for sparse phase retrieval. arxiv:1310.1351, 2013.
- [2] D. Amelunxen, M. Lotz, M. B. McCoy, and J. A. Tropp. Living on the edge: phase transitions in convex programs with random data. *IMA J. Information and Inference*, 3(3):224–294, September 2014.
- [3] C. Amra, M. Zerrad, S. Liukaityte, and M. Lequime. Instantaneous one-angle white-light scatterometer. Opt. Express, OE, 26(1):204–219, January 2018.
- [4] A. Auslender and M. Teboulle. Asymptotic Cones and Functions in Optimization and Variational Inequalities. Springer Monographs in Mathematics, pages 25–80, 2003.
- [5] S. Bahmani and J. Romberg. Efficient Compressive Phase Retrieval with Constrained Sensing Vectors. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, volume 28. Curran Associates, Inc., 2015.
- [6] A. S. Bandeira and D. G. Mixon. Near-optimal phase retrieval of sparse vectors. In SPIE Proceedings. SPIE, September 2013.
- [7] H. H. Bauschke, P. L. Combettes, and D. R. Luke. Phase retrieval, error reduction algorithm, and Fienup variants: a view from convex optimization. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A, 19(7):1334, July 2002.
- [8] R. Beinert and M. Quellmalz. Total Variation-Based Reconstruction and Phase Retrieval for Diffraction Tomography. SIAM Journal on Imaging Sciences, 15:1373–1399, September 2022.
- [9] R. Beinert and M. Quellmalz. Total Variation-Based Reconstruction and Phase Retrieval for Diffraction Tomography with an Arbitrarily Moving Object. *PAMM*, 22(1), 2023.

- [10] Magorzata Bogdan, Ewout van den Berg, Chiara Sabatti, Weijie Su, and Emmanuel J. Candès. SLOPE-Adaptive variable selection via convex optimization. *The Annals of Applied Statistics*, 9(3):1103 – 1140, 2015.
- [11] J. Bolte, S. Sabach, M. Teboulle, and Y. Vaisbourd. First order methods beyond convexity and Lipschitz gradient continuity with applications to quadratic inverse problems. *SIAM J. Optim.*, 28(3):2131–2151, 2018.
- [12] S. Boucheron, G. Lugosi, and P. Massart. Concentration Inequalities: A Nonasymptotic Theory of Independence. Oxford University Press, February 2013.
- [13] X. Buet, M. Zerrad, M. Lequime, G. Soriano, J.-J. Godeme, J. Fadili, and C. Amra. Immediate and one-point roughness measurements using spectrally shaped light. *Opt. Express*, 30(10):16078–16093, May 2022.
- [14] X. Buet, M. Zerrad, M. Lequime, G. Soriano, J.-J. Godeme, J. Fadili, and C. Amra. Instantaneous measurement of surface roughness spectra using white-light scattering projected on a spectrometer. *Appl. Opt., AO*, 62(7):B164–B169, March 2023.
- [15] P. Bühlmann and S. Van De Geer. Statistics for High-Dimensional Data: Methods, Theory and Applications. Springer Series in Statistics. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [16] J.-F. Cai and W. Xu. Guarantees of total variation minimization for signal recovery. *Information and Inference: A Journal of the IMA*, 4(4):328–353, December 2015.
- [17] T. T. Cai, X. Li, and Z. Ma. Optimal Rates of Convergence for Noisy Sparse Phase Retrieval Via Thresholded Wirtinger Flow. *The Annals of Statistics*, 44(5):2221–2251, 2016.
- [18] E. Candès, X. Li, and M. Soltanolkotabi. Phase retrieval via Wirtinger flow: Theory and algorithms. *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory*, 61(4):1985–2007, 2015.
- [19] E. Candès, T. Strohmer, and V. Voroninski. PhaseLift: Exact and stable signal recovery from magnitude measurements via convex programming. *Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics*, 66(8):1241–1274, 2013.
- [20] E. J. Candès and B. Recht. Simple bounds for recovering low-complexity models. *Mathematical Programming*, 141(1–2):577–589, 2013.
- [21] V. Chandrasekaran, B. Recht, A. Parrilo, P., and S. Willsky, A. The Convex Geometry of Linear Inverse Problems. *Found Comput Math*, 12(6):805–849, December 2012.
- [22] Y. Chen and E. Candès. Solving random quadratic systems of equations is nearly as easy as solving linear systems. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 70(5):822–883, May 2017.
- [23] L. Demanet and P. Hand. Stable Optimizationless Recovery from Phaseless Linear Measurements. *MIT web domain*, November 2013.
- [24] M.J. Fadili and G. Peyré. Total variation projection with first order schemes. *IEEE Transactions on Image Processing*, 20(3):657–669, 2010.
- [25] A. Fannjiang and T. Strohmer. The numerics of phase retrieval. Acta Numerica, 29:125–228, May 2020.
- [26] J. R. Fienup. Phase retrieval algorithms: a comparison. Appl. Opt., 21(15):2758, August 1982.
- [27] B. Gao, Y. Wang, and Z. Xu. Stable Signal Recovery from Phaseless Measurements. J Fourier Anal Appl, 22(4):787–808, August 2016.
- [28] M. Genzel, M. März, and R. Seidel. Compressed Sensing with 1D Total Variation: Breaking Sample Complexity Barriers via Non-Uniform Recovery. *Information and Inference: A Journal of the IMA*, 11:203–250, March 2022.
- [29] J.-J. Godeme, J. Fadili, C. Amra, and M. Zerrad. Stable phase retrieval with mirror descent. arxiv:2405.10754, 2024.
- [30] J.-J. Godeme, J. Fadili, X. Buet, M. Zerrad, M. Lequime, and C. Amra. Provable phase retrieval with mirror descent. SIAM J. Imaging Sci., 16(3):1106–1141, September 2023.
- [31] Y. Gordon. On Milman's inequality and random subspaces which escape through a mesh in ?n. In J. Lindenstrauss and V. D. Milman, editors, *Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 84–106, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1988. Springer.

- [32] P. Hand and V. Voroninski. Compressed Sensing from Phaseless Gaussian Measurements via Linear Programming in the Natural Parameter Space. ArXiv, November 2016.
- [33] K. Jaganathan, Eldar Y. C., and B. Hassibi. Phase retrieval: An overview of recent developments. In A. Stern, editor, Optical Compressive Imaging. CRC Press, 2016.
- [34] K. Jaganathan, S. Oymak, and B. Hassibi. Recovery of sparse 1-D signals from the magnitudes of their Fourier transform. In 2012 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory Proceedings, pages 1473–1477, July 2012. ISSN: 2157-8117.
- [35] K. Jaganathan, S. Oymak, and B. Hassibi. Sparse phase retrieval: Convex algorithms and limitations. In 2013 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory, pages 1022–1026, July 2013. ISSN: 2157-8117.
- [36] K. Jaganathan, S. Oymak, and B. Hassibi. Sparse Phase Retrieval: Uniqueness Guarantees and Recovery Algorithms. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 65(9):2402–2410, May 2017.
- [37] G. Jagatap and C. Hegde. Fast, Sample-Efficient Algorithms for Structured Phase Retrieval. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, volume 30. Curran Associates, Inc., 2017.
- [38] G. Lecué and S. Mendelson. Minimax rate of convergence and the performance of empirical risk minimization in phase recovery. *Electronic Journal of Probability*, 20:1–29, January 2015.
- [39] M. Ledoux. The Concentration of Measure Phenomenon, volume 89 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, February 2005.
- [40] X. Li and V. Voroninski. Sparse Signal Recovery from Quadratic Measurements via Convex Programming. SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, 45(5):3019–3033, January 2013.
- [41] D. R. Luke. Phase Retrieval, What's New? SIAG/OPT Views and News, 25(1):1-6, 2017.
- [42] T. D. Luu, J. Fadili, and C. Chesneau. Sharp oracle inequalities for low-complexity priors. Ann Inst Stat Math, 72(2):353– 397, April 2020.
- [43] A. D. McRae, J. Romberg, and M. A. Davenport. Optimal Convex Lifted Sparse Phase Retrieval and PCA With an Atomic Matrix Norm Regularizer. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 69(3):1866–1882, March 2023.
- [44] D. Needell and J. A. Tropp. CoSaMP: Iterative signal recovery from incomplete and inaccurate samples. *Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis*, 26(3):301–321, May 2009.
- [45] D. Needell and R. Ward. Near-Optimal Compressed Sensing Guarantees for Total Variation Minimization. *IEEE Trans*actions on Image Processing, 22(10):3941–3949, October 2013.
- [46] D. Needell and R. Ward. Stable Image Reconstruction Using Total Variation Minimization. SIAM J. Imaging Sci., 6(2):1035–1058, January 2013.
- [47] P. Netrapalli, P. Jain, and S. Sanghavi. Phase retrieval using alternating minimization. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 63(18):4814–4826, 2015.
- [48] H. Ohlsson and Y. C. Eldar. On conditions for uniqueness in sparse phase retrieval. In 2014 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 1841–1845, May 2014.
- [49] S. Oymak, A. Jalali, M. Fazel, Y. C. Eldar, and B. Hassibi. Simultaneously Structured Models With Application to Sparse and Low-Rank Matrices. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 61(5):2886–2908, May 2015.
- [50] S. Oymak, C. Thrampoulidis, and B. Hassibi. The squared-error of generalized LASSO: A precise analysis. In 2013 51st Annual Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing (Allerton), pages 1002–1009, October 2013.
- [51] E. Pauwels, A. Beck, Y. C. Eldar, and S. Sabach. On fienup methods for sparse phase retrieval. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 66(4):982–991, February 2018.
- [52] R. Pedarsani, D. Yin, K. Lee, and K. Ramchandran. PhaseCode: Fast and Efficient Compressive Phase Retrieval Based on Sparse-Graph Codes. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 63(6):3663–3691, June 2017.
- [53] N. Rao, B. Recht, and R. Nowak. Universal Measurement Bounds for Structured Sparse Signal Recovery. In Proceedings of the Fifteenth International Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Statistics, pages 942–950, March 2012.

- [54] N. S. Rao, B. Recht, and R. Nowak. Signal Recovery in Unions of Subspaces with Applications to Compressive Imaging. arXiv: Machine Learning, September 2012.
- [55] R. T. Rockafellar. Convex Analysis. Princeton University Press, 1970.
- [56] H. Sahinoglou and S. Cabrera. On phase retrieval of finite-length sequences using the initial time sample. *IEEE Transac*tions on Circuits and Systems, 38(5):954–958, 1991.
- [57] O. Scherzer, M. Grasmair, H. Grossauer, M. Haltmeier, and F. Lenzen. Variational Methods in Imaging, volume 167 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer, New York, NY, 2009. ISSN: 0066-5452.
- [58] P. Schniter and S. Rangan. Compressive phase retrieval via generalized approximate message passing. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 63(4):1043–1055, 2015.
- [59] Y. Shechtman, Y. C. Eldar, O. Cohen, H. N. Chapman, J. Miao, and M. Segev. Phase retrieval with application to optical imaging: A contemporary overview. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 32(3):87–109, May 2015.
- [60] M. Soltanolkotabi. Structured Signal Recovery From Quadratic Measurements: Breaking Sample Complexity Barriers via Nonconvex Optimization. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 65(4):2374–2400, April 2019.
- [61] J.-L. Starck, F. Murtagh, and J. Fadili. Sparse Image and Signal Processing: Wavelets and Related Geometric Multiscale Analysis, Second Edition. Cambridge University Press, 2 edition, 2015.
- [62] G. Steidl, J. Weickert, T. Brox, P. Mrázek, and M. Welk. On the Equivalence of Soft Wavelet Shrinkage, Total Variation Diffusion, Total Variation Regularization, and SIDEs. *SIAM J. Numer. Anal.*, 42(2):686–713, January 2004.
- [63] A. N. Tikhonov and V. Y. Arsenin. Solutions of Ill-Posed Problems. V. H. Winston and Sons, October 1977.
- [64] J. A. Tropp. User-Friendly Tail Bounds for Sums of Random Matrices. *Found Comput Math*, 12(4):389–434, August 2012.
- [65] J. A. Tropp. Convex Recovery of a Structured Signal from Independent Random Linear Measurements. In Sampling Theory, a Renaissance, pages 67–101. Birkhäuser, 2015.
- [66] S. Vaiter, M. Golbabaee, J. Fadili, and G. Peyré. Model selection with low complexity priors. *Information and Inference: A Journal of the IMA*, 4(3):230–287, September 2015.
- [67] S. Vaiter, G. Peyré, and J. Fadili. Low Complexity Regularization of Linear Inverse Problems. In Götz E. Pfander, editor, Sampling Theory, a Renaissance: Compressive Sensing and Other Developments, Applied and Numerical Harmonic Analysis, pages 103–153. Springer International Publishing, 2015.
- [68] N. Vaswani. Non-convex structured phase retrieval. arXiv:2006.13298, June 2020.
- [69] R. Vershynin. Introduction to the non-asymptotic analysis of random matrices. arXiv:1011.3027, November 2011.
- [70] J. Von Neumann. Some matrix inequalities and metrization of matric space. In: Collected Works, Vol. IV, Pergamon, Oxford, 1962.
- [71] V. Voroninski and Z. Xu. A strong restricted isometry property, with an application to phaseless compressed sensing. *Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis*, 40(2):386–395, March 2016.
- [72] G. Wang, Georgios B. Giannakis, J. Chen, and M. Akçakaya. SPARTA: Sparse phase retrieval via Truncated Amplitude flow. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), pages 3974–3978, March 2017.
- [73] Y. Wang and Z. Xu. Phase retrieval for sparse signals. Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis, 37(3):531–544, November 2014.
- [74] Z. Yang, L. F. Yang, E. X. Fang, T. Zhao, Z. Wang, and M. Neykov. Misspecified nonconvex statistical optimization for sparse phase retrieval. *Mathematical Programming*, 176:545–571, July 2019.
- [75] Z. Yuan, H. Wang, and Q. Wang. Phase retrieval via Sparse Wirtinger Flow. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 355:162–173, August 2019.